Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Neurobiology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pneurobio

Neural mechanism underlying acupuncture analgesia

Zhi-Qi Zhao*

Institute of Neurobiology, Institutes of Brain Science and State Key Laboratory of Medical Neurobiology, Fudan University, Shanghai 200032, China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 December 2007 Received in revised form 19 March 2008 Accepted 30 May 2008

Keywords: Acupuncture Electrical acupuncture Acupuncture point Afferent fibers Neural mechanisms

ABSTRACT

Acupuncture has been accepted to effectively treat chronic pain by inserting needles into the specific "acupuncture points" (acupoints) on the patient's body. During the last decades, our understanding of how the brain processes acupuncture analgesia has undergone considerable development. Acupuncture analgesia is manifested only when the intricate feeling (soreness, numbness, heaviness and distension) of acupuncture in patients occurs following acupuncture manipulation. Manual acupuncture (MA) is the insertion of an acupuncture needle into acupoint followed by the twisting of the needle up and down by hand. In MA, all types of afferent fibers (A β , A δ and C) are activated. In electrical acupuncture (EA), a stimulating current via the inserted needle is delivered to acupoints. Electrical current intense enough to excite A β - and part of A δ -fibers can induce an analgesic effect. Acupuncture signals ascend mainly through the spinal ventrolateral funiculus to the brain. Many brain nuclei composing a complicated network are involved in processing acupuncture analgesia, including the nucleus raphe magnus (NRM), periaqueductal grey (PAG), locus coeruleus, arcuate nucleus (Arc), preoptic area, nucleus submedius, habenular nucleus, accumbens nucleus, caudate nucleus, septal area, amygdale, etc. Acupuncture analgesia is essentially a manifestation of integrative processes at different levels in the CNS between afferent impulses from pain regions and impulses from acupoints. In the last decade, profound studies on neural mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia predominately focus on cellular and molecular substrate and functional brain imaging and have developed rapidly. Diverse signal molecules contribute to mediating acupuncture analgesia, such as opioid peptides (μ -, δ - and κ -receptors), glutamate (NMDA and AMPA/KA receptors), 5-hydroxytryptamine, and cholecystokinin octapeptide. Among these, the opioid peptides and their receptors in Arc-PAG-NRM-spinal dorsal horn pathway play a pivotal role in mediating acupuncture analgesia. The release of opioid peptides evoked by electroacupuncture is frequency-dependent. EA at 2 and 100 Hz produces release of enkephalin and dynorphin in the spinal cord, respectively. CCK-8 antagonizes acupuncture analgesia. The individual differences of acupuncture analgesia are associated with inherited genetic factors and the density of CCK receptors. The brain regions associated with acupuncture analgesia identified in animal experiments were confirmed and further explored in the human brain by means of functional imaging. EA analgesia is likely associated with its counter-regulation to spinal glial activation. PTX-sesntive Gi/o protein- and MAP kinase-mediated signal pathways as well as the downstream events NF-KB, c-fos and c-jun play important roles in EA analgesia. © 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	luction	356
	1.1.	Acupoint: trigger of acupuncture analgesia	357

* Tel.: +86 21 54237634; fax: +86 23 54237647.





E-mail address: zqzhao@fudan.edu.cn.

Abbreviations: Acupoint, acupuncture point; MA, manual acupuncture; EA, electrical acupuncture; TENS, transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; PET, positron emission tomography; RF, receptive field; VLF, ventrolateral funiculus; RVM, rostral ventromedial medulla; NRM, nucleus raphe magnus; PAG, periaqueductal gray; LC, locus coeruleus; Arc, arcuate nucleus; Po, preoptic area; CM, centromedian nucleus; Sm, nucleus submedius; APTn, anterior pretectal nucleus; Hab, habenular nucleus; LHb, lateral habenula; Ac, nucleus accumbens; Cd, caudate nucleus; Sp, septal area; Amyg, amygdale; PVH, hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus; ACC, anterior cingulated cortex; OFQ, orphanin; CCK, cholecystokinin octapeptide; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine; NA, noradrenalin; GABA, γ-amino-butyric acid; AII, angiotensin II; SOM, somatostatin; NT, neurotensin; DA, dopamine; SP, substance P; PPE, preproenkephalin; PPD, preprodynorphin; POMC, proopiomelanocortin; NF-κB, nuclear factor-kappa B; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase.

^{0301-0082/\$ -} see front matter © 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2008.05.004

1.2.	Characteristics of acupuncture analgesia	357	
1.3.	Psychological factors in acupuncture analgesia	358	
Peripl	heral mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia	358	
2.1.	Acupuncture-induced the "De-Qi" feeling	358	
	2.1.1. Origin from muscle contraction	358	
	2.1.2. Origin from connective tissue	359	
2.2.	Afferent nerve fibers activated by acupuncture	359	
	2.2.1. Electroacupuncture (EA)	359	
	2.2.2. Manual acupuncture (MA)	359	
Centr	al mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia	360	
3.1.	Acupuncture analgesia as a result of sensory interaction	360	
3.2.	Spinal segmental mechanisms: the functional specificity of acupoints	360	
3.3.	Neural pathways	360	
3.4.	Relevant brain areas	361	
3.5.	Functional imaging studies in acupuncture analgesia	362	
Roles	of transmitters and modulators in acupuncture analgesia	363	
4.1.	Opioid peptides	363	
	4.1.1. Peripheral opioid peptides	363	
	4.1.2. Central opioid peptides	363	
4.2.	Cholecystokinin octapeptide (CCK-8)	365	
4.3.	5-Hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)	365	
4.4.	Noradrenalin (NA)	365	
4.5.	Glutamate and its receptors	366	
4.6.	γ -Amino-butyric acid (GABA)	366	
	4.6.1. GABAa receptor	366	
	4.6.2. GABAb receptor	366	
4.7.	Other bioactive substances	366	
	4.7.1. Substance P (SP)	366	
	4.7.2. Angiotensin II (AII)	367	
	4.7.3. Somatostatin (SOM)	367	
	4.7.4. Arginine vasopressin (APV)	367	
	4.7.5. Neurotensin (NT)	367	
	4.7.6. Dopamine (DA)	367	
Misce	Miscellaneous		
5.1.	Glial function in acupuncture analgesia	367	
5.2.	Possible molecular mechanisms	368	
Concl	lusions and consideration	369	
Ackno	owledgements	369	
Refer	ences	369	
	1.2. 1.3. Perip 2.1. 2.2. Centr 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 3.5. Roles 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 4.4. 4.5. 4.6. 4.7. Misco 5.1. 5.2. Concl Ackn Refer	1.2. Characteristics of acupuncture analgesia Peripheral mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia 2.1. Acupuncture-induced the "Do-Cylif eeling, 2.1.1. Origin from muscle contraction 2.2.2. Afferent neve fibers activated by acupuncture 2.2.1.1. Electroacupuncture (EA) 2.2.2. Manual acupuncture (MA) Central mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia 3.1. Acupuncture analgesia as result of sensory interaction 3.2. Spinal segmental mechanisms: the functional specificity of acupoints. 3.3. Neural pathways 3.4. Relevant brain areas. 3.5. Functional imaging studies in acupuncture analgesia 4.1.0 poind peptides 4.1.1 Peripheral opoid peptides. 4.2.2. Chrole opoid peptides 4.3. S-Hydroxytryptamine (5-HT). 4.4. Noradrenatin (NA) 4.5. Glutamate and its receptors 4.6.1 GABA receptor 4.7.1 Substance P (SP) 4.7.4. Substance P (SP) 4.7.5. Neurotensin (I(AII) 4.7.6. Dopamine (DA) 5.7. Possible molecular mechanisms	

1. Introduction

Acupuncture has been a healing art in traditional Chinese medicine for more than 2000 years. Various disorders can effectively be cured by inserting long, fine needles into specific "acupuncture points" (acupoints) on the skin of the patient's body. Besides China, acupuncture has spread to over 160 countries and regions. The World Health Organization recommends the use of acupuncture treatment for 43 diseases. Since acupuncture was proposed by NIH consensus as a therapeutic intervention of complementary medicine (NIH, 1997), acupuncture efficacy has become more accepted in the Western world.

Among acupuncture therapies, the acupuncture-induced analgesic effect has been used widely to alleviate diverse pains, particularly chronic pain, and is termed "acupuncture analgesia." Considering the clinical therapy of acupuncture, it is inevitable that psychological factors are involved in the analgesia. Whether acupuncture analgesia has a physiological basis or is simply attributable to hypnosis or other psychological effects has long been a focus of argument. Consequently, increasing attention has been paid to exploring the physiological and biochemical mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia, particularly the brain mechanisms. In the past decades, our understanding of how the brain processes signals induced by acupuncture has developed rapidly (Cao, 2002; Carlsson, 2001; Chang, 1973, 1980; Chung, 1989; Han and Terenius, 1982; Han, 1986, 1989, 2003; Le Bars and Willer, 2002; Mayer, 2000;

Pomeranz, 2001; Sims, 1997; Staud and Price, 2006; Takeshige, 1989; Vincent and Richardson, 1986; Ulett, 1989; Ulett et al., 1998; Wang et al., 2008). This review focuses on the neuronal mechanisms of acupuncture analgesia. On the basis of the data obtained in the last decades and the use of multidisciplinary new techniques, more studies on neural mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia are predominately interested in cellular and molecular substrate and functional brain imaging during the last 10 years. The main advancements are: (1) individual differences of acupuncture analgesia are associated with inherited genetic factors and the density of CCK receptors (Chae et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2002; Wan et al., 2001). (2) The brain regions associated with acupuncture analgesia identified in animal experiments were confirmed and further explored in the human brain by means of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and positron emission tomography (PET) (see Section 3.5). Some brain regions were activated and de-activated, when acupuntrue treatment evoked acupuncture feeling "De-Qi" associated with the efficiency of acupuncture analgesia (see Section 1.1). (3) Frequency-dependent EA analgesia is mediated by the different opioid receptor subtypes (see Section 4.1.2). (4) Both CCK release and the density of CCK receptors are closely associated with individual sensitivity to acupuncture. (5) EA and NMDA or AMPA/KA receptor antagonists have a synergic antinociceptive action against inflammatory pain. (6) EA and disrupting glial function synergistically suppress inflammatory pain. EA analgesia is likely associated with its counter-regulation to spinal glial activation (see Section 5.1). (7) PTX-sesntive Gi/o protein-, opioid receptor- and MAP kinase-mediated signal pathways as well as the downstream events NF- κ B, *c-fos* and *c-jun* play important roles in EA analgesia (see Section 5.2).

1.1. Acupoint: trigger of acupuncture analgesia

The acupoints used by acupuncturists are based on the ancient meridian theory, in which the meridians are referred to as channels "Jing" and their branches "Luo," where 361 acupoints are located. The meridians are considered as a network system to link acupoints via so-called "Qi" (energy) streaming in the meridians. On the basis of this theory, traditional acupuncturists deem that pain is attributed to a disease-induced blockade of meridians. Therefore, when the blockade is purged by acupuncture, this elicits the smooth streaming of "Qi" in the meridians, and pain is alleviated. However, no convincing evidence shows the existence of novel structures serving as the anatomical foundations of meridians, although related studies have been carried out. Given that the meridian theory has been effectively used for treatment in traditional Chinese medicine, it is conceivable that the meridians might be a functional, but not an anatomical, concept that includes a summation of multiple physiological functions, including the nervous, circulatory, endocrine and immune systems. It is well known that the concept of the constellation has played an important role in astronomy and navigation for a long time. The meridian system might resemble the concept of the constellation in which fictive lines (channels) link various stars (acupoints).

Traditional acupuncturists remarkably emphasize "needling feeling" in clinical practice. It seems that acupuncture analgesia is manifest only when an intricate feeling occurs in patients following manipulation of acupuncture (Hui et al., 2005; Haker and Lundeberg, 1990; Pomeranz, 1989). This special feeling is described as soreness, numbness, heaviness and distension in the deep tissue beneath the acupuncture point. In parallel, there is a local feeling in the acupuncturist's fingers, the so-called "De-Qi." The acupuncturist feels pulling and increased resistance to further movement of the inserted needle, which is similar to that of a fisherman when a fish takes the bait (Kong et al., 2005; Langevin et al., 2001; MacPherson and Asghar, 2006). A clinical observation showed that acupuncture needles inserted into the lower limbs fail to produce this "De-Qi" feeling or have any analgesic effect on the upper part of the body in paraplegic patients (Cao, 2002). Consequently, great attention was first paid to the involvement of somatic sensory functions of the nervous system in acupuncture analgesia and the innervation of acupoints. There are a total of 361 acupoints on the skin of the human body. In the 1970s, an elegant morphological study showed the topographical relationships between 324 acupoints of 12 meridians as well as the Ren meridian (Zhou et al., 1979, in press). By means of opography, they observed the innervation of the different tissues underneath acupoints, including epidermis, dermis, subcutaneous tissue, muscle and tendon organs in 8 adult cadavers, 49 detached extremities and 24 lower extremities. It was found that out of 324 acupoints located on the meridians, 323 exhibited rich innervation mainly in the deep tissues, clearly indicating that the acupoints on all of the meridians were innervated by peripheral nerves. A recent study indicated a significantly decreased number and density of subcutaneous nerve structures compared with non-acupoints in human (Wick et al., 2007). Unfortunately, their observation was limited only to the acupoints on the skin. It has demonstrated that afferent fibers innervating the skin are not important in mediating acupuncture signals (Chiang et al., 1973; Han et al., 1983; Shen et al., 1973).

To further trace the innervation of acupoints, a recent study explored the distribution of afferent nerve endings with acupoints in the rat hindlimb, in light of the fact that the location of these acupoints are anatomically identical to those of humans (Li et al., 2004). By combining single fiber recordings with Evans blue extravasation, the location of the receptive fields (RFs) for each identified unit recorded was marked on scaled diagrams of the hindlimb. Noxious antidromic stimulation-induced Evans blue extravasation was used to map the RFs of C-fibers in the skin or muscles. The RFs were concentrated either at the sites of acupoints or along the orbit of meridian channels, indicating that the distribution of RFs for both A- and C-fibers is closely associated with acupoints. Similarly, the majority of deep sensory receptors are located at acupoints in muscle. Therefore, authors assumed that acupoints in humans may be excitable muscle/skinnerve complexes with a high density of nerve endings (Li et al., 2004).

1.2. Characteristics of acupuncture analgesia

- (1) Two acupuncture manipulations are clinically used: manual manipulation (MA) and electrical acupuncture (EA). In MA, the acupuncture needle is inserted into the acupoint and twisted up and down by hand; this is commonly used by traditional acupuncturists. In EA, stimulating current is delivered to acupoints via the needles connected to an electrical stimulator. Instead of insertion of acupuncture needles, a surface electrode on the skin over the acupoint is also described as EA. But it is different from transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS). The surface electrodes of TENS are delivered on the skin of pain region rather than acupoints.
- (2) The acupuncture-induced intricate feeling (soreness, numbness, heaviness and distension) in the deep tissue beneath the acupoint is essential to acupuncture analgesia.
- (3) Following the application of acupuncture, the pain threshold gradually increases in both humans and animals, indicating a delayed development of acupuncture analgesia. Moreover, there is a long-lasting analgesic effect after acupuncture stimulation is terminated (Cui et al., 2005; Chiang et al., 1973; Han et al., 1983; Mayer et al., 1977; Pomeranz and Chiu, 1976; Research Group, 1973). The pain threshold to potassium iontophoresis at eight points distributed on the head, thorax, back, abdomen and leg was fairly stable during a period of over 100 min in volunteers. Acupuncture manipulation at the "Hegu" acupoint (LI-4) gradually produced an increase in pain threshold with a peak increase occurring 20-40 min after needle insertion, and persisted over 30 min after withdrawal of the needle. Injection of 2% procaine into LI-4 just prior to acupuncture produced neither local sensation nor an analgesic effect (Fig. 1) (Chiang et al., 1973; Farber et al., 1997; Han et al., 1983; Research Group, 1973). In a recent study on healthy subjects, baseline thermal thresholds (cold and warm sensations and cold and hot pain) were measured at the medial aspects of both lower extremities. Five seconds of hot pain (HP) was delivered to the testing sites and the corresponding pain visual analog scale (VAS) scores were recorded. Thirty seconds of EA (5 Hz, 6 V) was delivered via "Yinbai" (SP1) and "Dadun" (LR1) on the left lower extremities. The warm thresholds of both medial calves significantly increased (p < 0.01), whereas the VAS scores of the acute thermal pain threshold were reduced significantly at the ipsilateral calf during electrical acupuncture in comparison to pre-acupuncture and post-acupuncture (p < 0.01) measurements, suggesting that EA has an inhibitory effect on C-fiber afferents and the analgesic benefit observed is most likely $A\delta$ afferent-mediated (Leung et al., 2005).



Fig. 1. Elevation of pain threshold by acupuncture at the "Hegu" (LI-4) acupoint in volunteers (solid dot). Blockade of acupuncture analgesia by injection of 2% procaine into LI-4 just prior to acupuncture (open dot) (modified with permission, from Research Group, 1973).

(4) The analgesic effect of acupuncture is characterized by clear individual differences. In a study comparing the analgesic effects of three acupuncture modes (manual, electroacupuncture, and placebo) in healthy subjects, acupuncture treatment, but not placebo, lowered pain ratings in response to calibrated noxious thermal stimuli. Highly significant analgesia was found in 5 of the 11 subjects. Of the five responders, two responded only to electroacupuncture and three only to manual acupuncture, suggesting that acupuncture's analgesic effects on experimental pain may depend on both subject and mode (Kong et al., 2005). In addition, a role of inherited genetic factors in the individual differences of acupuncture analgesia was reported (Chae et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2002).

1.3. Psychological factors in acupuncture analgesia

The existence of psychological factors in acupuncture analgesia when treating a patient's chronic pain is not unexpected, as with many medical treatments (Price et al., 1984). But increasing evidence demonstrates that acupuncture analgesia is predominately attributable to its physiological rather than psychological action despite a high skepticism (Ezzo et al., 2000; Lee and Ernst, 2005; Lundeberg and Stener-Victorin, 2002). Clinical observations have shown that acupuncture analgesia is very effective in treating chronic pain, helping from 50% to 85% of patients (compared to morphine which helps only 30%). Furthermore, acupuncture analgesia is better than placebo in patients (Lewith and Machin, 1983; Richardson and Vincent, 1986) and in normal volunteers (Lee and Ernst, 1989; Ulett, 1989). In support of these early results, recent studies provide new evidence for physiological actions of acupuncture (Bausell et al., 2005; Pariente et al., 2005). In 14 patients suffering from painful osteoarthritis scanned with PET, it was found that the insula ipsilateral to the site of acupuncture needling was activated to a greater extent during acupuncture than during the placebo intervention. Acupuncture and placebo (with the same expectation of effect as acupuncture) caused greater activation than skin prick (no expectation of a therapeutic effect) in the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and midbrain (Pariente et al., 2005). Stimulation of the hypothalamo-pituitary axis (HPA) resulting in adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) secretion occurs in response to a great variety of psychological or physical stressors. In deeply anaesthetized rats, EA enhanced ATCH plasma release and up-regulated expression of Fos in the hypothalamic-pituitary corticotrope axis without usual autonomic responses to psychological stress, such as tachycardia or blood pressure elevation, which was blocked by deprivation of nociceptive primary afferent input using neonatal capsaicin. (Pan et al., 1996, 1997). In the awaking rat, immobilization stress predominantly is a psychological stressor. Further results showed that immobilization stress-induced ATCH release and Fos expression were not changed by capsaicin treatment. These findings suggest that EA depends on the physiological afferent signal elicited in the somatosensory pathway. Taken together, it is reasonable that acupuncture has specific physiological effects and that patients' expectation and belief regarding a potentially beneficial treatment modulate activity in the hypothalamicpituitary corticotrope system.

2. Peripheral mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia

2.1. Acupuncture-induced the "De-Qi" feeling

In clinical practice, traditional acupuncturists remarkably emphasize "De-Qi" feeling, including a characteristic needling sensation in the patient and the finger feeling of the acupuncturist, suggesting that efficacy of acupuncture analgesia closely depends upon the "De-Qi" (Hui et al., 2005; Haker and Lundeberg, 1990; Pomeranz, 1989; Wang et al., 1985). To address these reactions to acupuncture needling may be a stepping-stone to understanding the mechanism of acupuncture analgesia.

2.1.1. Origin from muscle contraction

An elegant study was performed on 32 normal volunteers (Shen et al., 1973). An insulated acupuncture needle (except for the tip) was inserted into LI-4 or Zusanli (ST-36) for stimulation and EMG recording. To exclude suggestion, communication between the subject and acupuncturist was forbidden during the period of recording. The results clearly showed that the EMG magnitude recorded from the insulated acupuncture needles in the muscle beneath the acupoint is positively related to the intensity of the subjective sensation derived from acupuncture manipulation and with the local "De-Qi" feeling in the acupuncturist's fingers. Both sensations are blocked after injection of procaine into the muscle beneath the acupoints. In 11 patients, following lumbar anesthesia, both acupuncture feeling and electromyograph produced by stimulation of ST-36 were completely abolished (Shen et al., 1973). It is suggested that the acupuncture feeling mainly originates from acupuncture-induced impulses from muscle, although other deep tissues are not ruled out (Lin et al., 1979). The activity of polymodal-type receptors in deep tissues may play a key role (Kawakita et al., 2002). This notion is supported by a rare observation. In two patients with congenital insensitivity to pain, one had no skin pain when the needle was inserted into the acupoint, but had some needling feeling (De-Qi) and autonomic reactions during needle twirling, compared with normal subjects. Another patient had neither skin pain sensation nor the needing feeling (Xu et al., 1984). In the former, it was likely that the function of afferent terminals innervating deep tissues might be normal and the deep sensation was partially retained. Therefore, acupuncture-activated polymodal-type receptors in deep tissues (mainly muscle) may be involved in induction of needling feeling (De-Qi).

2.1.2. Origin from connective tissue

Recently, a challenging hypothesis has been raised to explain the peripheral mechanism underlying "De-Qi" (Langevin et al., 2001, 2002). It is reported that the needle grasp is due to mechanical coupling between the needle and connective tissue with winding of tissue around the needle during rotation. Winding may allow needle movements to deliver a mechanical signal into the tissue and may be a key to acupuncture's therapeutic mechanism. In support of this notion, a recent study found that acupuncture at ST-36 induced significant analgesia and enhanced the degranulation of mast cells. After the mast cells were pharmacologically destroyed by injection of disodium chromoglycate in the acupoint area, the analgesia was weakened, suggesting an important role of mast cells in connective tissue in acupuncture analgesia (Zhang et al., 2007a).

2.2. Afferent nerve fibers activated by acupuncture

Given that the acupuncture needle is a physical sensory stimulus, the intensity, frequency, duration and interval between stimuli directly influence the kind of receptors activated. Increasing evidence has revealed that the types of afferent nerve fibers activated by acupuncture are diverse, depending upon the different manipulation methods of acupuncture and individual differences in acupuncture sensitization.

2.2.1. Electroacupuncture (EA)

The stimulating current at various parameters applied to acupoints through acupuncture needles can produce bilateral analgesic effects in human subjects and experimental animals (Han et al., 1983; Kim et al., 2000; Lao et al., 2004; Takakura et al., 1995). It is commonly accepted that persistent analgesia can be elicited only when relatively high intensities with longer pulse durations are used (Romita et al., 1997). Since the 1970s, it has been controversial which kinds of afferent fibers mediate EA analgesia. The bone of contention is whether C-type afferents are involved (Hu, 1979; Liu et al., 1986, 1990). In electrophysiological, animal behavioral and human experimental studies, lines of evidence demonstrate that electrical current via acupuncture needles at intensities sufficient to excite A_β-type afferents (group II) is capable of producing analgesia (Chung et al., 1984; Levine et al., 1976; Lu et al., 1979; Toda and Ichioka, 1978; Toda, 2002; Pomeranz and Paley, 1979; Wu et al., 1974). But excitation of some $A\delta$ -type afferents (group III) induces a more potent analgesia (Kawakita and Funakoshi, 1982; Leung et al., 2005; Wu et al., 1974). The early electrophysiological studies showed that EA activating the whole spectrum of A-type afferents induced stronger inhibition of nociceptive responses in cat spinal dorsal horn neurons than exciting only AB fibers (Pomeranz and Paley, 1979; Wu et al., 1974). Similarly, there was a significant correlation between the amplitude of $A\beta$ fibers in the compound action potentials elicited by EA stimulation and the degree of suppression of the jaw opening reflex induced by noxious stimulation in the rat (Toda, 2002). When the EA current intensity partially excites $A\delta$ afferent fibers, the EA-induced feeling in humans is acceptable, even comfortable for some (Shao et al., 1979).

However, using the electrophysiological method of collision, when ST-36 was stimulated by EA, researchers found that the amplitude of the antidromic C wave of the compound action potential in the peroneus nerve (innervating ST-36) was clearly decreased due to collision with the orthdromic EA stimulation, suggesting excitation of some C fibers (Liu et al., 1990). If C afferents play an important role in EA analgesia, degeneration of primary afferent C fibers would prevent or reduce it. Given that about 90% of unmyelinated fibers are destroyed by neonatal capsaicin treatment (50 mg/kg) in rats (Nagy, 1982), the same treatment was used to test the effect on EA analgesia in the rat (Zhu et al., 1990b). In the capsaicin-treated rats, EA analgesia was significantly reduced compared to the control group. In addition, when conduction in AB- and Ab-type fibers was blocked, EA analgesia still remained in the rat, suggesting the involvement of Ctype afferents in EA analgesia. However, conflicting results have been reported (Pan et al., 1997; Uchida et al., 2003). In normal rats, 45-50% of DRG neurons display TRPV1-immunoreactivity. After degeneration of C afferent fibers by neonatal capsaicin treatment, all these neurons disappear from DRGs. Fos expression in the dorsal horn after injection of formalin into the hindpaw was severely attenuated by neonatal capsaicin treatment. However, Fos expression after EA to the pads of the hindpaw was unaffected by the same treatment. These results suggest that EA induces the expression of Fos in dorsal horn neurons via capsaicin-insensitive afferents, presumably Aδ rather than C afferents, regardless of blockade of Fos expression in the paraventricular, arcuate and other hypothalamic nuclei by neonatal capsaicin treatment (Pan et al., 1997).

The clinical observations seem to support the notion of C fiber involvement in EA analgesia in animal experiments (Bing et al., 1990; Chung et al., 1984). In patients with syringomyelia, when the anterior commissure of the spinal cord is damaged, the pain and temperature sensation deficits are accompanied by reduced or abolished acupuncture effects and acupuncture feeling (Cao, 2002). But then, it must be pointed out, excitation of C fibers by synchronous strong electrical pulses will inevitably elicit insufferable pain in clinical practice. Strong intensity of EA is, therefore, not suitable for analgesia in patients.

Surface electrodes on the skin over an acupoint instead of insertion of acupuncture needles (EA-like) is similar to transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS), but the differences lie in the location of surface electrodes and stimulation intensity and frequency. When EA-like surface stimulation is delivered to the skin over acupoints at low-frequency and high-intensity at five to eight times the sensory threshold, strong muscular contractions are evoked, and experimental tooth pain threshold increases (Andersson and Holmgren, 1975). Furthermore, TENS is delivered at the site of pain with high-frequency and low-intensity (Chan and Tsang, 1987; Lundeberg, 1984). The types of afferent fibers activated by surface electrodes on acupoints correspond to those of EA. Excitation of A β fibers (group II) and some A δ fibers (group III) is involved in analgesia (Han, 2003).

The conflicting results may stem from the variety of stimulation parameters used, such as biphasic square pulses of variable duration, brief monophasic pulses, and different frequencies and intensities.

2.2.2. Manual acupuncture (MA)

An early experimental study revealed that MA at the Hegu (LI-4) acupoint increased the pain threshold in volunteers (Chiang et al., 1973). Blockade of cutaneous branches of the radial nerve innervating the skin at LI-4 by procaine failed to alter the acupuncture-induced increase in pain threshold, whereas blockade of the muscular nerves, deep branches of the ulnar nerve and the median nerve innervating muscles at LI-4 completely abolished acupuncture analgesia, suggesting activation of afferent fibers predominantly from muscle.

As mentioned above, the "De-Qi" feeling is essential to induce analgesia. To obtain the "De-Qi" feeling, acupuncture needles are repetitively penetrated up and down in different directions, so that the muscle fibers beneath acupoints are exposed to strong mechanical stimulation and even injury. Consequently, the types of afferents activated by MA depend upon stimulating intensity (mild or strong) and duration of manipulation. A-type fibers are mainly activated when gentle stimulation induces the "De-Qi" feeling. However, when the needles are twisted up and down repetitively, the deep tissues, particularly muscle, are locally injured; proinflammatory mediators, such as histamine, bradykinin, PGE2, 5-HT and ATP, are released and excite nociceptors directly or indirectly (Boucher et al., 2000; Meyer et al., 2005). It is, therefore, conceivable that C-type fibers are involved in MAinduced analgesia. Experimental studies in the cat provide compelling support for this view (Wei et al., 1973, 1976, 1978). By means of single-fiber recording from deep peroneal nerve innervating the anterior tibial muscle, where ST-36 is located in the cat, following needle penetration into the anterior tibial muscle by hand, firing of a C-type afferent persisted for a prolonged period. Using selective blockade of conduction in A δ - and C-type afferents by applying capsaicin to the bilateral sciatic nerves, researchers found that MA-induced analgesia was completely abolished in the rat. The C-type fiber mediation of analgesia in MA seems to be similar to that evoked by so-called diffuse noxious inhibitory control (DNIC), which is mediated by A δ - and C-type afferents (Bing et al., 1990; Okada et al., 1996; Zhu et al., 2004a). Clinically, the acupuncture feeling remains several hours to even a few days after withdrawal of the acupuncture needles, supporting major involvement of C-type afferents in acupuncture analgesia.

Taken together, the peripheral afferent mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia produced by EA and MA are homologous, but some differences exist. Most studies indicate that $A\beta/\delta$ -type afferents preferentially mediate EA analgesia, whereas all types, particularly C-type afferents, preferentially mediate MA analgesia. Accordingly, when EA and MA are simultaneously used, there is more potent analgesia than when only one is applied (Kim et al., 2000).

3. Central mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia

3.1. Acupuncture analgesia as a result of sensory interaction

One of traits of acupuncture analgesia is that it lasts long after the cessation of the needling stimulation, suggesting the involvement of central summation. In general, pain can be alleviated by various procedures, such as acupuncture, forceful pressure, vibration and heating as well as white noise and flicker. Consequently, it is considered that one kind of sensation may be suppressed by another kind. It is well known that many areas in the CNS, particularly the reticular formation, receive a convergence of heterosensory impulses from various sources. On the basis of these facts, Chang (1973) raised a fascinating postulate that under certain conditions any innocuous sensory input may have some inhibitory effects on pain, but the characteristic sensory impulses produced by acupuncture probably are the most effective. A large body of evidence in the following chapters shows that acupuncture analgesia is essentially a manifestation of integrative processes at different levels of the CNS between the afferent impulses from the pain regions and impulses from acupoints (Chang, 1973, 1980; Du and Zhao, 1976; Kerr et al., 1978; Liu et al., 1986; Liu and Wang, 1988; Pomeranz and Cheng, 1979; Shen et al., 1975; Takeshige et al., 1993; Wu et al., 1974).

3.2. Spinal segmental mechanisms: the functional specificity of acupoints

Clinically, the different acupoints are selected according to the therapy. Traditional acupuncturists emphasize the functional specificity of acupoints according to the meridian theory. A general principle is when the sites of pain are located in the upper body, such as the head, neck and arm, acupoints on the arms are usually used for treatment, whereas acupoints on the legs are used to relieve pain in the lower body, such as sciatica and abdominal pain. Consequently, it is consistent with the principle of spinal segmental innervation in modern neurophysiology. The segments of the body comprise dermatomes, myotomes, sclerotomes and viscerotomes, in which the same level of innervation and sensory input enter the spinal dorsal horn. The findings of an electrophysiological experiment provide strong support for this view. Inhibition of nociceptive responses, which were evoked by noxious thermal stimulation to the cat hindpaw, in spinal dorsal horn neurons was more powerful when the acupoints were located in the same segmental innervation regions, such as "Zusanli" (ST-36) than that those in remote spinal segments, such as "Hegu" (LI-4). The most efficacious inhibition occurred when acupoints were selected in the same nerve innervating the receptive field of the source of pain (Wu et al., 1974). Similar results were obtained when electroacupuncture at ST-36 decreased the expression of Fos in the superficial dorsal horn of spinal cord by noxious thermal stimulation to the hindpaw in a rat model of neuropathic pain (Dai et al., 2001). As a result, we believe that the spinal segmental relationship between pain site and acupoints partially underlies their functional specificity of acupoints (Bing et al., 1991a). Despite the importance of the spinal segmental principle, many acupoints distant from the pain sites are efficient for relieving pain (Bing et al., 1990; Wu et al., 1974; Zhu et al., 2004a).

The analysis of synaptic mechanism hints at the involvement of both pre- and post-synaptic inhibition in EA-induced inhibition of nociceptive responses in spinal neurons. The size of the antidromic compound potential of the sural nerve evoked by a testing stimulus was measured as an index of afferent terminal excitability mediating presynaptic inhibition (Rudomin, 1999). Using this method (Fung and Chan, 1976; Li et al., 1993), researchers found that EA stimulation at "Huantiao" (GB 30) and "Yanglingquan" (GB 34) or "Zusanli" (ST-36) induced significant enlargement of antidromic C-waves of the sural nerve by strong electrical stimulation, suggesting that EA-induced enhancement of depolarization in presynaptic primary C-afferent terminals resulted in inhibition of release of transmitters, such as substance P and glutamate, from terminals. Moreover, EA at ST-36 was capable of inhibiting noxious stimulation-induced impulses from single fibers of the dorsal root mediated by the sympathetic nerve (Hu et al., 1982). In addition, EA stimulation at ST-36 produced inhibitory post-synaptic potentials (IPSPs) and a long-lasting membrane hyperpolarization in nociceptive neurons of the spinal dorsal horn resulting in inhibition of nociceptive responses by noxious heating to the hindpaw in the cat. This suggests possible involvement of post-synaptic inhibition in EA analgesia (Wu et al., 1978).

3.3. Neural pathways

The main ascending and descending pathways of pain are welldocumented (Millan, 1999, 2002). There are two leading ascending pain pathways: the spinoparabrachial tract and the spinothalamic tract. The former originates from the superficial dorsal horn in the spinal cord and projects to the parabrachial nucleus connecting to brain areas mainly involved in processing pain emotion, whereas the latter originates in the superficial and deep dorsal horn and projects to the thalamus connecting to the cortical areas involved in the sensory discrimination and emotion of pain. Clinical observations and experimental studies suggest that the pathways of acupuncture signals are interwoven with pain pathways. As shown in Fig. 2, convergence of impulses originating from pain sites and acupoints occur in the spinal dorsal horn and medial thalamus (such as the nucleus parafascicularis, Pf), where



Fig. 2. Putative central circuit underlying acupuncture analgesia. Fundamental nuclei are involved in processing signals from acupoints. Acupuncture signals from acupoint conduct to the brain via the ventrolateral funiculus (VLF) to activate and deactivate the different nuclei and region. *Abbreviations*: CN, Caudate nucleus; Arc, arcuate nucleus; Pf, nucleus parafascicularis; Hab, habenular nucleus; PAG, periaqueductal grey; NRM, nucleus raphe magnus. Solid arrow: Excitatory input; open arrow: inhibitory input.

integration of two kinds of impulses takes place. For example, axons from Cd and NRM neurons project to the pain-sensitive neurons in the Pf. Activity of Cd and NRM neurons by EA significantly inhibits nociceptive responses in the Pf resulting in the analgesic effect.

Lines of clinical observation provide crucial evidence for understanding the pathways of acupuncture analgesia (Cao, 2002). Some patients suffering from tabes dosalis involving the posterior column, infantile paralysis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, who represent a deficit of deep sensation or degeneration of spinal motor neurons, still retained the "De-Qi" feeling at all affected acupoints. Compared with the long-lasting sensation in normal subjects, their "De-Qi" feeling quickly disappeared after ceasing acupuncture stimulation. However, patients with syringomyelia involving the anterior commissure and posterior horn in the spinal cord not only presented pain and temperature deficits, but their acupuncture feeling was markedly weakened or completely abolished in the related acupoints. To test these clinical observations, experimental studies were done. Sections of the spinal dorsal columns failed to affect acupuncture stimulationinduced inhibition of nociceptive responses in thalamic neurons. The acupuncture-induced increase in pain threshold to noxious heating was similar in chronically dorsal chordotomized and intact animals. However, with unilateral section of the ventral of twothirds of the spinal lateral funiculus at segments T₁₂-L₁, the analgesia induced by stimulation of acupoints located in the contralateral, but not the ipsilateral, leg was almost abolished (Chiang et al., 1975). Collectively, these data suggest that impulses from acupoints ascend mainly through the ventrolateral funiculus, which is the spinal pathway of pain and temperature sensation.

3.4. Relevant brain areas

In the 20th century, the endogenous descending inhibitory system in the CNS was one of the most valuable findings in

understanding pain (Fields et al., 2005). The descending inhibitory system consists of many brain regions, such as the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) (mainly nucleus raphe magnus, NRM), periaqueductal gray (PAG), locus coeruleus (LC) and arcuate nucleus (Arc). Intriguingly, in accordance with opiate analgesia and brain stimulation-induced analgesia, this system plays a vital role in processing acupuncture analgesia. An early study showed that when the dorsal lateral funiculus of the spinal cord was sectioned at T₂₋₃, analgesia by EA at "Zusanli" (ST-36) in the hindleg was lessened or abolished in the cat, indicating participation of the descending inhibitory system in acupuncture analgesia (Hu et al., 1980; Shen et al., 1974, 1975, 1978). Subsequently, studies of brain lesions further revealed that the source of descending inhibition is predominately attributed to the NRM and its adjacent structures (Du and Zhao, 1975, 1976). A recent report showed that EA at Huantiao (GB30) significantly inhibited Fos expression in laminae I-II of the spinal cord in the sham-operated rats, but not in those with dorsolateral funiculus lesions (Li et al., 2007).

In the last decades, by means of various techniques, such as classical physiological approaches of stimulation and lesion of brain nuclei, acupuncture-induced Fos expression and functional imaging, many studies have shown involvement of many brain structures in the modulation of acupuncture analgesia, including the RVM (mainly NRM), periaqueductal gray (PAG), locus coeruleus (LC), arcuate nucleus (Arc), preoptic area (Po), centromedian nucleus (CM), nucleus submedius (Sm), anterior pretectal nucleus (APtN), habenular nucleus (Hab), nucleus accumbens (Ac), caudate nucleus (Cd), septal area (Sp), amygdale, anterior cingulated cortex (ACC), and hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVH). Except for the Hab, stimulation of these nuclei potentiates EA analgesia, whereas lesions attenuate it (Bing et al., 1991b; Guo et al., 1996; Hui et al., 2005; Lee and Beitz, 1993; Takeshige et al., 1991, 1993; Wu et al., 1995; Yan et al., 2005; Yang et al., 1992). Based on a large amount of relevant data, several complicated schematics of the possible physiological mechanism of acupuncture analgesia have been drawn (Han, 1989; He, 1987; Takeshige, 1989; Stener-Victorin, 2002). Their elegant schematics provide a comprehensive understanding for central pathways of acupuncture analgesia from the different angles. But, given that reciprocal connections exist between these nuclei making up intricate neural circuits, the accumulative data of acupuncture analgesia are much insufficient to make a clear schematic of interaction of these nuclei in acupuncture analgesia. Focusing on several important nuclei modulated pain, Fig. 2 is a simplified schematic of central mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia.

It is well-documented that off- and on-neurons in the RVM are closely related to the noxious heat-induced tail-flick reflex in the rat, in which just prior to the occurrence of tail-flick elicited by noxious heat, the on-neurons and off-neurons exhibit a burst of discharges and a cessation of discharges, respectively (Fields et al., 2005). Synchronous recording of activity in the RVM neurons and tail-flick reflexes by noxious heat was performed in the rat. EA at bilateral "Ciliao" (BL 32) acupoints inhibited the tail-flick reflex by noxious heat with a significant increase in spontaneous discharges of most off-neurons, but not on-neurons. These results provide evidence that the off-neurons may be the main efferent neurons in the RVM involved in EA analgesia (Wang and Chen, 1993).

Stimulation of the NRM potentiated the acupuncture-induced inhibitory effect, whereas lesion of this nucleus, or the dorsolateral funiculi (DLF) containing descending fibers from the NRM, significantly reduced the acupuncture effect (Du and Zhao, 1975). However, when EA at high intensity exciting C afferent fibers was delivered, EA facilitated spontaneous firing in some NRM neurons responsive to noxious stimuli, but inhibited their nociceptive responses. After transection of the DLF, the NRM neurons were still activated by EA, but the post-inhibitory effects of EA on the nociceptive responses were clearly reduced. It is suggested that the EA can activate the NRM, a supraspinal area mediating a negative feedback circuit modulating pain, thus inducing analgesia via descending inhibition (Liu et al., 1986, 1990).

EA at "Zusanli" (ST-36), "Neiguan" (PC 6) or "Neiting" (ST-44) induced clear analgesic effects in behavioral tests and Fos expression, specifically in the ventrolateral PAG (vlPAG) (de Medeiros et al., 2003; Guo et al., 2004; Sheng et al., 2000). Also, similar results were found in the Arc, CM, Cd, Ac and amygdala.

The Cd is well-known as a constitutive part of the extrapyramidal system in modulation of motor function. Compelling evidence has shown that the head of the Cd has a role in the relief of pain in animals (Acupuncture Anesthesia Group, 1976; Department of Physiology, 1979; Schmidek et al., 1971; Zhang et al., 1980) and patients (Acupuncture Anesthesia Coordinating Group, 1977). Also, further studies found that lesions of the head of the Cd attenuated EA analgesia (Zhang et al., 1978), indicating that it plays crucial role in this process (He and Xu, 1981; He et al., 1985).

The Hab, an important relay station between the limbic forebrain and brainstem, receives afferent fibers originating from various areas of the limbic forebrain and sends out efferent fibers to extensive regions in the brainstem (Herkenham and Nauta, 1977, 1979; Wang and Aghajanian, 1977). The lateral habenula (LHab) is implicated in processing pain (Department of Physiology, 1977). Nociceptive responses in LHab neurons were evoked by noxious stimulation, and the excitation of the LHab by micro-injection of L-glutamate decreased the pain threshold (Wang et al., 1987). The electrophysiological results showed that electrical stimulation and lesion of the LHab produced a decrease and increase of spontaneous discharges of neurons in the NRM, respectively, suggesting that excitation of the LHab has an inhibitory action on the NRM (Wang et al., 1980). Consequently, the LHab may play a negative regulatory role in acupuncture

analgesia. Activity of LHab neurons induced an antagonistic effect on acupuncture analgesia. Given that the Hab projects to the NRM contributing to descending control, the effects of interrupting the NRM on LHab-inhibited acupuncture analgesia were found. The LHab excitation-induced antagonistic effect on acupuncture analgesia was abolished by microinjection of lidocaine into the NRM (Liu and Wang, 1988), suggesting that acupuncture might promote the descending inhibitory action of the NRM by inhibiting LHab, thus strengthening the analgesic effect.

3.5. Functional imaging studies in acupuncture analgesia

The above brain regions associated with acupuncture analgesia were predominantly identified in animal experiments. Recently, the studies on correlations between neuroimages and acupuncture in the human brain have increased by means of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and positron emission tomography (PET) (Fang et al., 2004; Hsieh et al., 2001; Hui et al., 2000; Kong et al., 2002; Wu et al., 1999, 2002; Yan et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2003a,b, 2004), which greatly deepen our insight into the central mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia and drive further exploration of acupuncture.

Several fMRI studies have revealed that needling stimulation of Hegu (LI-4), Zusanli (ST-36), or Yanlingquan (GB 34) is capable of modulating activity in the human central nervous system including cerebral limbic/paralimbic and subcortical structures (Li et al., 2000; Wu et al., 1999; Yan et al., 2005). When the "De-Qi" feeling was evoked by acupuncture, many brain regions including the PAG and NRM in the midbrain, insula, dorsomedial nucleus of the thalamus, hypothalamus, nucleus accumbens, and primary somatosensory-motor cortex were activated, while some regions exhibited deactivation, such as the rostral part of the anterior cingulate cortex, the amygdala and the hippocampal complex (Wu et al., 1999). As mentioned above, De-Qi sensation is closely associated with the efficiency of acupuncture analgesia in patients; therefore, De-Qi-induced changes in brain images will contribute to understanding the central mechanisms of acupuncture. A recent study further showed that the acupuncture-induced De-Qi feeling without sharp pain elicited widespread signal decreases in several brain areas, including the frontal pole, VMPF cortex, cingulated cortex, hypothalamus, reticular formation and the cerebellar vermis, whereas the acupuncture-induced De-Qi feeling with sharp pain elicited signal increases in several areas, including the frontal pole and the anterior, middle and posterior cingulate (Hui et al., 2005). A similar finding was acquired by scanning in the 3-D mode of PET, in which acupuncture activated many brain regions, including the ipsilateral anterior cingulus, the insulae bilaterally, the cerebellum bilaterally, the ipsilateral superior frontal gyrus, and the contralateral medial and inferior frontal gyri (Biella et al., 2001).

To address whether the stimulation of acupoints in the same spinal segments could induce different central responses, brain imaging with fMRI was used in 12 healthy, right-handed subjects. Stimulation of the Zusanli/Sanyinjiao (ST-36/SP6) acupoints specifically activated orbital frontal cortex and de-activated hippocampus, whereas stimulation of the Yanglingquan/Chengshan (GB34/BL57) acupoints activated dorsal thalamus and inhibited the primary motor area and premotor cortex. Thus, stimulation of acupoints at the same spinal segments induced distinct though overlapping cerebral response patterns. This supports the notion that acupoints are relatively specific (Zhang et al., 2004). Intriguingly, a further study showed that stimulation of classical acupoints elicited significantly higher activation over the hypothalamus and primary somatosensory-motor cortex and deactivation over the rostral segment of anterior cingulate cortex than stimulation of non-acupoints. When vision-related acupoints located in the lateral aspect of the foot, which are used to treat eye diseases in traditional Chinese medicine, were stimulated bilaterally, activation of the bilateral visual cortex (occipital lobes) was found by fMRI (Siedentopf et al., 2002). Stimulation of the eye by direct light results in similar activation in the occipital lobes by fMRI. But there was no activation in the occipital lobes following stimulation of non-acupoints (Wu et al., 2002).

Taken together, acupuncture activates some structures, such as PAG and NRM contributing to descending inhibitory modulation (Liu et al., 2000) and deactivates multiple limbic areas contributing to modulating pain emotion, such as the insula, anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), etc. (Lei et al., 2004; Gao et al., 2004; Price, 2000). Increasing evidence demonstrates that the ACC plays an important role in the descending facilitatory modulation (Zhang et al., 2005b). It is, therefore, suggested that acupuncture is effectively capable of modulating central homeostasis to produce analgesia in the treatment of patients, supporting the notion that acupuncture regulates the balance of "Yin" and "Yang" in the ancient meridian theory.

4. Roles of transmitters and modulators in acupuncture analgesia

In the early '70s, an elegant study from Han's group revealed that when the cerebrospinal fluid of donor rabbits given acupuncture was infused into the cerebral ventricles of recipient rabbits, the pain threshold of recipients was increased, strongly suggesting the involvement of central chemical mediators in acupuncture analgesia (Research Group, 1974). From then on, many findings in human and animal studies have demonstrated that acupuncture analgesia is a complex physiological process mediated by various transmitters and modulators. Han and his colleagues have made important contributions to this field (Han and Terenius, 1982; Han, 2003).

4.1. Opioid peptides

It is well known that the three main groups of opioid peptides, β -endorphin, enkephalins and dynorphins, and their μ -, δ - and κ receptors are widely distributed in peripheral primary afferent terminals and areas of the CNS related to nociception and pain, and play a pivotal role in peripheral and central antinociception (Basbaum and Jessell, 2001; Fields et al., 2005). The discovery of endogenous opioid peptides intensified exploration of the role of opioid peptides in acupuncture analgesia. In 1977, the first stimulating finding showed that naloxone, a specific opioid receptor antagonist, partially reversed the analgesic effect of acupuncture on electrical stimulation-induced tooth pulp pain in human subjects (Mayer et al., 1977). This result was swiftly evaluated by sensory detection theory in healthy subjects and confirmed in patients with chronic pain (Jiang et al., 1978). Further observations showed that EA increased the content of Bendorphin-like immunoreactive substances in the ventricular CSF of patients with brain tumours (Chen and Pan, 1984) and in the lumbar CSF of patients with chronic pain (Sjolund et al., 1977) as well as in the rabbit PAG (Zhang et al., 1981). Also, naloxone blocked EA-induced inhibition of nociceptive responses in dorsal horn neurons in the cat (Pomeranz and Cheng, 1979) and reversed EA analgesia in the monkey (Ha et al., 1991). But, conflicting results were also reported in human subjects (Chapman et al., 1983).

In addition, CXBK mice deficient in opiate receptors showed poor EA-induced analgesia (Peets and Pomeranz, 1978). Further, acupuncture analgesia was potentiated by protection of endogenous opioid peptides using peptidase inhibitors, such as p-amine acids, p-phenylalanine and bacitracin (Ehernpreis et al., 1978; Han et al., 1981; Zhou et al., 1984). Subsequently, on the basis of these findings, the effects of opioid peptides on acupuncture analgesia have being studied widely.

4.1.1. Peripheral opioid peptides

The involvement of the peripheral opioid system in modulating inflammatory pain has been well-documented (Stein, 1991; Stein et al., 2003). In rats with CFA-induced inflammation, intraplantar, but not intraperitoneal, injection of naloxone methiodide, a peripherally acting opioid receptor antagonist, eliminated the analgesic effect at 30 min after EA treatment (Sekido et al., 2003). Intraplantar injection of an antibody against β -endorphin and a corticotropin-releasing factor antagonist also reduced EA analgesia, strongly suggesting that peripheral opioids released by EA at the inflammatory site are involved in modulating inflammatory pain (Zhang et al., 2005a).

4.1.2. Central opioid peptides

Compelling evidence demonstrated that frequency-dependent EA analgesia is mediated by the different opioid receptor subtypes (Han, 2003; Kim et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2004a). Direct evidence comes from a study using radioimmunoassay of spinal perfusates from the rat. EA at low-frequency (2 Hz) facilitates the release of enkephalin, but not dynorphin, while EA at high frequency (100 Hz) stimulates the release of dynorphin, but not enkephalin in the rat (Fei et al., 1987; Han, 2003). These findings were fully confirmed in humans (Han et al., 1991). By intrathecal administration of various specific antagonists or antisera of opioid receptor subtypes, further studies showed that 2 and 100 Hz EA-induced analgesic effects were differentially reduced by blockade of μ -/ δ -, and κ -receptors, strongly suggesting that low- and high-frequency EA are mediated by μ -/ δ - receptors and κ -receptors in the rat spinal cord, respectively, under the physiological pain conditions (Fig. 3) (Han, 2003; Wang et al., 2005). It has showed that endomorphin is a newly characterized opioid peptide with high selectivity for μ -receptors (Zadina et al., 1997). Since 2 Hz EA is highly effective in accelerating the release of β -endorphin and enkephalins with high selectivity for μ - and δ receptors in the CNS, 2 Hz EA should be effective in accelerating the release of brain endomorphin exerting an antinociceptive effect. Intracerebroventricular injection of endomorphin antiserum or µreceptor antagonist CTOP dose-dependently antagonized 2 Hz, but not 100 Hz EA analgesia in mice (Huang et al., 2000).

However, in pathological conditions, κ -receptors seem not to be involved in EA analgesia. In rats with inflammatory pain, both 2 and 100 Hz EA-induced analgesia are mediated by μ -/ δ receptors, but not κ -receptors (Zhang et al., 2004b). In rats with neuropathic pain, 2 Hz EA induced a robust and longer lasting effect than 100 Hz. Also, μ -/ δ -receptors, but not κ -receptors, mediate the relieving effects on pain behaviors induced by 2 Hz EA (Kim et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2004). Further studies showed that lesions of the arcuate nuclei abolished low-frequency EAinduced analgesia but not high-frequency EA, whereas selective lesions of the parabrachial nuclei attenuated high-frequency EAinduced analgesia but not low-frequency EA (Wang et al., 1990, 1991). It appears that low- and high-frequency EAinduced analgesia may be mediated by different brain nuclei expressing opioid receptors.

Apart from the relationship between EA frequency and brain nuclei, different EA intensities might be associated with brain nuclei expressing opioid receptors. Microinjection of naloxone into the thalamic nucleus submedius (Sm) blocked high-intensity EA analgesia, but not low-intensity, whereas the opposite result occurred when naloxone was injected into the anterior pretectal



Fig. 3. Opioid peptides and opioid receptors involved in analgesia elicited by electroacupuncture of different frequencies: (a) 2 Hz (red), 100 Hz (blue),15 Hz (purple). Dyn (dynorphin A); β -End (β -endorphin); Em (endomorphin); Enk (enkephalins). Synergism: simultaneous activation of all three types of opioid receptor elicits a synergistic analgesic effect. (b) Model for the synergistic analgesic effect produced by alternating low- and high-frequency stimulation. Stimulation at 2 Hz facilitates the release of enkephalin (red); that at 100 Hz stimulates the release of dynorphin (blue). The overlapping areas (purple) indicate the synergistic interaction between the two peptides. (with permission from Han, 2003).

nucleus (APtN) in the rat (Zhu et al., 2004b). These results suggest that opioid receptors in the Sm and APtN may be involved in $A\delta/C$ and $A\beta$ afferent fiber-mediated EA analgesia, respectively.

As mentioned above, many brain nuclei and regions are involved in processing acupuncture signals, and most of them, such as the Sm, Cd, Sp, Ac, Arcu, PAG and NRM, contain opioid peptides and μ -, δ - and κ -receptors. At the supraspinal level, decrease in acupuncture analgesia was demonstrated when activity of opioid receptors of given areas were blocked by opioid receptor antagonists (He, 1987).

A pioneering work revealed that the PAG and periventricular grey matter of the rabbit are targets for morphine analgesia (Tsou and Jang, 1964). Subsequently, Reynolds (1969) reported that electrical stimulation of the PAG produced analgesia potent enough to allow exploration of internal organs in rats. A number of studies have well-documented that the PAG is a critical region in the descending pain inhibitory system (Millan, 2002). Given that the PAG contains a high density of opioid receptors, blockade of opioid receptors in the PAG by naloxone or antibody against μ - or δ -receptors significantly attenuated EA analgesia (Han et al., 1984; Xie et al., 1983). Further, acupuncture analgesia was potentiated by preventing hydrolyzing enzyme-induced degradation of endogenous opioid peptides by microinjection of a mixture of three peptidase inhibitors (amastatin, captopril and phosphoramidon) into the PAG (Kishioka et al., 1994). It is documented that the axons of PAG neurons project to the NRM. When the PAG was stimulated, the firing rate of NRM neurons was enhanced following analgesia in rats. Further, EA at "Zusanli" (ST-36) activated NRM neurons and produced analgesia, which was weakened by microinjection of naloxone into the PAG in rats (Liu, 1996).

Similarly, blockade of EA analgesia was found with microinjection of naloxone into the preoptic area, habenula, septal area, nucleus accumbens, amygdala and caudate nucleus (He et al., 1985; Liu, 1996; Wu et al., 1995). EA elicited an increase in pain threshold and a rise in opioid peptide levels in the perfusate of the anterodorsal part of the head of caudate nucleus (Cd) in rabbits. The EA analgesia was readily reversed by microinjection of a μ -receptor antagonist, but not δ - and κ -receptor antagonists, into the anterodorsal part of the head of Cd (He et al., 1985). It is most likely that the Cd is involved in EA analgesia through μ -receptors, but not δ - and κ -receptors.

The arcuate nucleus (Arc) is an important structure in the endogenous opioid peptide system, in which B-endorphincontaining neurons are densely located. Their axons project to the lateral septal area, nucleus accumbens, PAG and LC (Akil et al., 1984; Bloom et al., 1978), suggesting that the Arc is implicated in mediating acupuncture analgesia. In a behavioral and electrophysiological study, EA analgesia and EA-induced responses of neurons in the dorsal raphe nucleus were significantly increased by Arc stimulation, whereas EA-induced responses of neurons in the locus coeruleus were decreased by Arc stimulation. These effects were reversed by i.p. injection of naloxone (Yin et al., 1988). Arc stimulation-induced excitation of NRM neurons was blocked by a section of the β -endophinergic tract or microinjection of naloxone into the PAG. In support of results of Arc stimulation, further evidence revealed that lesions of the Arc almost completely blocked EA analgesia (Wang et al., 1990). These results indicate the important role of the Arc-PAG-NRM-dorsal horn pathway mediated by the opioid system in acupuncture analgesia (Takeshige et al., 1992).

The thalamic anterior nuclei (AD), which densely express opioid receptors, are regarded as a part of the limbic system, which may be involved in pain emotion (Mark et al., 1963; Pert et al., 1976). An electrophysiological study found that iontophoretsis of opiate strikingly inhibited nociceptive responses of AD neurons, which were blocked by naloxone. Similar to the action of opiates, EA also produced naloxone-reversible inhibition of nociceptive responses in AD neurons (Dong et al., 1987), suggesting that EA may modulate pain emotion via opioid receptors in AD neurons.

Despite some contention, orphanin FQ (OFQ) is considered to be an endogenous opioid peptide. It is the ligand for the orphan opioid receptor-like-1 (ORL1) receptor. Studies indicate that OFQ is involved in the modulation of not only nociception (Grisel et al., 1996; Tian et al., 1997a; Xu et al., 1996; Shu and Zhao, 1998), but also EA analgesia (Zhu et al., 1996; Tian et al., 1997b; Huang et al., 2003). Administration of OFQ (i.c.v.) induced a dose-dependent antagonism of the analgesia induced by EA (100 Hz) in the rat, whereas antisense oligonucleotides (i.c.v) to OFQ mRNA potentiated EA-induced analgesia. Comparable to this result, microinjection of OFQ into the PAG remarkably antagonized EA analgesia in a dose-related manner (Wang et al., 1998). Taken together, it is conceivable that endogenous OFQ in the brain exerts a tonic antagonistic effect on EA-induced analgesia. However, intrathecal administration of OFO enhanced rather than antagonized EAinduced analgesia in the spinal cord. These findings are consistent with the experimental results obtained in rats where morphineinduced analgesia is antagonized by i.c.v. OFQ and potentiated by i.t. OFQ (Tian et al., 1997a). Apart from mediating acute pain, it has been shown that OFQ is involved in neuropathic pain. In the sciatic nerve chronic constriction injury model, EA decreased expression of preproorphanin FQ mRNA and increased OFQ immunoreactivity in the NRM of rats, suggesting that EA modulated OFQ synthesis

and OFQ peptide levels in the NRM in neuropathic pain (Ma et al., 2004).

4.2. Cholecystokinin octapeptide (CCK-8)

CCK-8 is widely distributed in various brain areas and the spinal cord and exerts many physiological functions. It is the most potent neuropeptide involved in processing anti-opioid activity via the CCK₈ receptor (Ito et al., 1982; Faris et al., 1983; Han, 1995, 2003; Watkins et al., 1985). Compelling evidence has clearly shown the involvement of CCK-8 in processing EA analgesia (Chen et al., 1998; Huang et al., 2007; Ko et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2003). In a behavioral test, intrathecal administration of CCK-8 and CCK₈ receptor antagonists significantly depressed and potentiated electroacupunture-induced antinociception, respectively (Huang et al., 2007). Further study showed that rats with weak EA-induced analgesia, so-called non-responders, had a remarkable increase in CCK release, whereas rats with strong EA-induced analgesia, socalled responders, had little increase in CCK release in the spinal cord (Zhou et al., 1993). A recent study showed that CCK receptor mRNA in the rat hypothalamus was increased by high-frequency EA in non-responders (Ko et al., 2006).

The responders and non-responders to acupuncture represent individual variations in acupuncture analgesia. It is very interesting that following i.c.v. microinjection of antisense oligonucleotides to CCK mRNA, the CCK-mRNA as well as the CCK-8 content in rat brain was decreased, and particularly non-responders were converted into responders for EA analgesia and morphine analgesia. (Tang et al., 1997). Further work indicated when the tail-flick response by radiant heat was performed to quantify analgesic effects after MA at the Zusanli (ST-36) in rats, the expression of the mRNA level of the CCK-A receptor was significantly higher in non-responders than responders, but the mRNA level of CCK-B receptor expression was not significantly different (Lee et al., 2002). Collectively, this suggested that both CCK release and the density of CCK receptors are closely associated with individual sensitivity to acupuncture.

As mentioned in Section 1.3, placebo is a potentially beneficial treatment for EA. Compelling evidence has shown that placebo analgesia is mediated by endogenous opioids (Benedetti and Amanzio, 1997). Consistent with the effect on EA and opiate analgesia, the blockade of CCK receptors potentiates the placebo analgesic response (Benedetti, 1996). Given the anti-opioid action of CCK, it is suggested that EA analgesia may, at least partially, share a common mechanism with placebo analgesia. A potentiation of the endogenous opioid systems is implicated in EA and placebo analgesia.

4.3. 5-Hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)

5-HT and its receptor are densely expressed in the CNS and are implicated in modulating nociception (Kayser et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2007; Millan, 2002). The role of 5-HT in mediating acupuncture analgesia has been well-summarized (Han and Terenius, 1982). It is acknowledged that the nuclei raphe magnus (NRM) contains an abundance of 5-HT and is a crucial site in the descending pain modulation system (Millan, 2002). EA increased the central content of 5-HT and its metabolic products, particularly in the NRM and the spinal cord (Han et al., 1979a,b; Ye et al., 1979; Zhu et al., 1997a,b). 5-HT immunoreactivity was potentiated in the NRM with EA analgesia (Dong and Jiang, 1981). The electrolytic lesion of the NRM or selective depletion of brain 5-HT by 5,6dihydroxytryptamine (5,6-DHT) remarkably attenuated EA analgesia in the different species (Baumgarten et al., 1972; Dong et al., 1984; Du and Zhao, 1976; Du et al., 1978; Kaada et al., 1979; McLennan et al., 1977; Han et al., 1979a; Shen et al., 1978; Yih et al., 1977). The blockade of 5-HT biosynthesis by *p*-chlorophenylalanine, a 5-HT synthesis inhibitor, and degradation by pargyline, a monoamine oxidase inhibitor, produced inhibition and potentiation of acupuncture analgesia, respectively (see references [35– 38,45] in Han and Terenius, 1982). Further, blockade of 5-HT receptors by cinaserine, cyproheptadine or methysergide, 5-HT receptor anagonists, almost abolished acupuncture analgesia (Han et al., 1979a,b; Chang et al., 2004). These compelling data clearly verify that both serotonergic descending and ascending pathways originating from the NRM are implicated in mediating acupuncture analgesia.

Recent studies have well-documented that there are multiple 5-HT receptor subtypes in the nervous system (Millan, 2002). 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptors are densely present in neurons of the dorsal horn in the spinal superficial laminae where primary nociceptive afferent fibers terminate (Hamon and Bourgoin, 1999). 5-HT_{2A} and 5-HT₃ receptors are expressed by primary nociceptive afferent fibers (Carlton and Coggeshall, 1997; Hamon et al., 1989). An electrophysiological study using 5-HT receptor subtype antagonists (i.v.) showed that 5-HT₁, 5-HT₂ and 5-HT₃ are likely involved in EA-induced inhibition of acute nociceptive responses evoked by tooth pulp stimulation in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis of rabbits (Takagi and Yonehara, 1998). In a study on 5-HT release, tooth pulp stimulation slightly increased 5-HT release and significantly increased SP release in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis. EA remarkably enhanced 5-HT release and suppressed SP release evoked by tooth pulp stimulation. NAN-190 (i.v), a 5-HT_{1A} receptor antagonist, further enhanced the increase in tooth pulp stimulation-induced 5-HT release in the presence of EA and could significantly reduce the amount of SP release. The incremental effect of NAN-190 on 5-HT release may depend on presynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors (autoreceptors) that exert an inhibitory control on nerve activity to increase 5-HT release (Hjorth, 1993). These results suggest that EA-induced activation of 5-HT_{1A} receptors regulates tooth pulp stimulation-induced SP release in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis, which is likely involved in mediation of EA-induced inhibition of acute nociceptive responses (Yonehara, 2001). However, intrathecal injection of antagonists of 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT₃ receptors, but not 5-HT_{2A} antagonists, significantly blocked EA-induced depression of cold allodynia in the neuropathic rat and reduced spontaneous pain behaviors (Kim et al., 2005). Similarly, intracerebroventricular administration of antagonists of 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT₃ receptors reduced EA analgesia in the rat formalin-induced pain test (Chang et al., 2004). These data suggest that 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT₃ receptor subtypes play important roles in mediating EA analgesia through modulation of SP release.

4.4. Noradrenalin (NA)

It is well-documented that the NA-containing neurons reside in A_1 , A_2 , A_{4-7} nuclei of the brain stem, which axons bilaterally project to the forebrain via the dorsal or ventral bundle and to the spinal cord via the dorsallateral funiculeus contributing to modulation of pain (Ungerstedet, 1971; Millan, 2002). A line of studies revealed that EA-induced analgesia and decreased NA content in the rat brain (Dong et al., 1978; Han et al., 1979a; Zhu et al., 1997b). Further studies suggested that NA seems to exert different actions at the spinal and supraspinal levels. When DOPS, a precursor of NA, was intracerebroventricularly administered, EA analgesia was inhibited, whereas following intrathecal administration, EA analgesia was potentiated (Xie et al., 1981). Given that the NA-ergic terminals in the locus coeruleus originate from the dorsal raphe nucleus (Rd), microinjection of 6-OHDA into the Rd produced an increase in

efficacy of acupuncture analgesia resulting from the destruction of NA-ergic terminals, suggesting that NA may induce inhibition of acupuncture analgesia in brain nuclei (Dong et al., 1984).

It has showed that spinal α 2-adrenoceptors play a crucial role in inhibitory descending pain control by noradrenergic projections from supraspinal nuclei, such as the LRN and LC to the dorsal horn (Liu and Zhao, 1992; Millan, 2002; Zhao and Duggan, 1988), particularly in modulating neuropathic pain (Yu et al., 1998). A recent report indicated involvement of spinal α 2 receptors in EA analgesia. Intrathecal injection of α 2 receptor antagonist yohimbine, but not α 1 receptor antagonist prazosin, significantly blocked EA analgesia in neuropathic rats (Kim et al., 2005). Taken together, the data support the notion that NA may induce inhibition of acupuncture analgesia in brain nuclei, but potentiation in the spinal cord.

4.5. Glutamate and its receptors

Excitatory amino acids, such as glutamate and aspartate, are abundant in nociceptive primary afferent fiber terminals, and NMDA, AMPA/KA and metabotropic receptors are distributed densely in the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord where primary nociceptive afferents terminate (Coggeshall and Carlton, 1998; Li et al., 1997; Liu et al., 1994b). It is well-documented that glutamate and its receptors play a pivotal role in spinal transmission of nociceptive information and central sensitization in physiological and pathological conditions (Aanonsen et al., 1990; Dougherty and Willis, 1991; Du et al., 2003; Hu and Zhao, 2001; Millan, 1999; Ren et al., 1992; Song and Zhao, 1993a,b).

Increasing evidence suggests that blockade of NMDA and AMPA/KA receptors is capable of reinforcing acupuncture analgesia. In the rat spinal nerve ligation model, EA decreased nerve injury-induced mechanical allodynia (Huang et al., 2004). Immunochemical studies further revealed that nerve ligation increased the expression of NMDA receptor subtype NR1 immunoreactivity in the spinal superficial laminae, which could be reduced by low-frequency electroacupuncture (EA) in the rat spinal nerve ligation model (Sun et al., 2004). Also, in the CFA-induced inflammation model, EA lessened both inflammation agent-induced pain responses and expression of NR1 and NR2 GluR1 in the spinal cord (Choi et al., 2005a,b) as well as the number of DRG neurons with IB4 and NR1 double-labeling (Wang et al., 2006).

Pharmacological studies provide further evidence for blockade of NMDA receptors boosting up acupuncture analgesia. A combination of low-dose ketamine, a NMDA receptor antagonist, with EA produced more potent anti-allodynic effects than that induced by EA alone in a neuropathic pain model (Huang et al., 2004). A similar phenomenon was demonstrated in the carrageenan- or CFA-induced inflammation model. Both 10 and 100 Hz EA combined with a sub-effective dose of MK-801, a NMDA receptor antagonist, showed prolonged anti-hyperalgesia with no side effects (Zhang et al., 2005d). Although neither i.t. injection of the NMDA receptor antagonist AP5 (0.1 nmol) nor the AMPA/KA receptor antagonist DNQX (1 nmol) alone had an effect on inflammation-induced thermal hyperalgesia, both significantly potentiated EA-induced analgesia in carrageenan-injected rats, especially AP5. Simultaneously, when a combination of electroacupuncture with AP5, DNOX or kynurenic acid (KYNA, a widespectrum glutamate receptor antagonist) was used, the level of Fos expression in the spinal cord induced by carrageenan was significantly lower than electroacupuncture or i.t. injection of AP5, DNQX or KYNA alone (Zhang et al., 2002, 2003). These results demonstrate that electroacupuncture and NMDA or AMPA/KA receptor antagonists have a synergic anti-nociceptive action against inflammatory pain.

4.6. γ -Amino-butyric acid (GABA)

GABA is an important inhibitory transmitter in the CNS and is involved in multiple physiological and pathological functions. There are three GABA receptor subtypes: GABAa, GABAb, and GABAc. It has been known that GABAa and GABAb receptors contribute to modulation of pain (Millan, 1999, 2002). But its role in acupuncture analgesia is still obscure and the relevant results are contradictory.

4.6.1. GABAa receptor

Early pharmacological studies found that systemic administration of a GABAa receptor antagonist reduced acupuncture analgesia (McLennan et al., 1977), whereas intrathecal diazepam binding to GABAa receptors potentiated EA analgesia (Pomeranz and Nguyen, 1987). Microinjection of muscimol, a GABAa receptor agonist, or 3-MP, a GABA synthesis inhibitor, into the PAG markedly suppressed and potentiated acupuncture analgesia, respectively (Han, 1989). EA at "Zusanli" (ST-36) induced analgesia with an increase in expression of GABA in the PAG (Fusumada et al., 2007). Acupuncture raised the rat pain threshold with an increase in GABA concentration in the habenula, suggesting that an increase of GABA concentration in brain is the cause of increasing the pain threshold through its inhibitory effect on habenular activity (Tang et al., 1988).

4.6.2. GABAb receptor

Intracerebroventricular administration of GABAb, but not GABAa, receptor antagonists clearly decreased both acupuncture analgesia and GABAb receptor agonist-induced analgesia. Moreover, intrathecal administration of both GABAa and GABAb receptor antagonists partially blocked acupuncture analgesia (Zhu et al., 1990a,b, 2002). In support of the behavioral results, in an electrophysiological study from the same laboratory, microiontophoretic administration of a GABAa receptor antagonist markedly inhibited acupuncture-induced inhibition of nociceptive responses of the spinal dorsal horn neurons and EA-induced depolarization of C-afferent terminals, suggesting involvement of presynaptic inhibition (Li et al., 1993). These data suggested that only GABAb receptors in supraspinal structures contribute to mediating acupuncture analgesia, whereas both GABAa and GABAb receptors in the spinal cord are associated with acupuncture analgesia (Zhu et al., 2002).

4.7. Other bioactive substances

In addition to the above transmitters, interruption of functions of the following bioactive substances could positively or negatively influence acupuncture analgesia. Except that substance P, an important pain signal molecule, may be a target of acupuncture, the following others might be involved in mediating acupuncture analgesia.

4.7.1. Substance P (SP)

It is well-documented that SP is one of the most important signal molecules mediating peripheral (Zhang et al., 2007b) and spinal nociception (Hunt and Mantyh, 2001). Various noxious stimuli induce SP release in the spinal cord (Yaksh et al., 1979; Duggan et al., 1987) and peripheral inflammation enhanced expression of SP in nociceptors in the cat (Xu et al., 2000). Lowintensity EA at bilateral "Huantiao" (GB30) for 30 min did not change the SP content in the perfusate of the spinal cord, but clearly reduced noxious stimulation-induced elevation of SP (Zhu et al., 1991). Immunohistochemical studies showed that EA at "Zusanli" (ST-36) depressed the pain response and increased SP-immunoreactivity possibly due to the inhibition of its release (Du and He, 1992). Moreover, EA induced a decrease in tooth pulp stimulation-induced SP release in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis and A δ afferent-mediated evoked potentials in the rabbit, which was reversed by a SP receptor antagonist (Yonehara et al., 1992). Given that opiates inhibited SP release (Yaksh et al., 1980) and acupuncture induced release of opioid peptides in the spinal cord (Han, 2003), it is conceivable that pain stimulation itself may activate the endogenous opioid mechanism to inhibit SP release and acupuncture is able to enhance the process. This might be one of the mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia.

4.7.2. Angiotensin II (AII)

This neuropeptide is widely distributed in the CNS and exerts multiple physiological and pathological functions including modulation of pain (Han et al., 2000; Tchekalarova et al., 2003; Toma et al., 1997). Preliminary work showed that the role of AII in EA analgesia is comparable with that of CCK. EA at 100 Hz increased AII-ir content in the spinal perfusate. Intrathecal administration of saralasin, an AII receptor antagonist, induced a significant potentiation of the analgesia induced by 100 Hz EA. EA at 100 Hz probably accelerated the spinal release of AII as a brake for EA analgesia (Shen et al., 1996).

4.7.3. Somatostatin (SOM)

SOM, an endogenous non-opioid neuropeptide, is located in the peripheral and central nervous system and contributes to modulation of nociception (Sandkuhler et al., 1990; Song et al., 2002). A few studies showed that SOM might be involved in EA analgesia (Zheng et al., 1995) and other functions of EA, such as modulating meal-stimulated acid secretion (Jin et al., 1996). To validate the effect of SOM on EA analgesia, a recent study showed the effects of EA on the expression of SOM peptide and preprosomatostatin (ppSOM) mRNA in a rat model of neuropathic pain induced by chronic constriction injury (CCI) to the sciatic nerve, using immunohistochemistry and RT-PCR. EA significantly enhanced SOM expression in DRG and spinal dorsal horn as well as ppSOM mRNA level in DRG of rats with neuropathic pain (Dong et al., 2005a). The results indicated that endogenous SOM might play a role in EA analgesia for neuropathic pain.

4.7.4. Arginine vasopressin (APV)

An early study revealed that the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVH) plays an important role in acupuncture analgesia (Yang et al., 1992; Yang and Lin, 1992). Microinjection of L-glutamate, which only excites PVH neurons, into the PVH, dose-dependently enhanced EA (Zusanli, ST-36) induced analgesia and increased the AVP, but not oxytocin (OXT), concentrations in the PVH perfuse liquid using radioimmunoassay. Intraventricular injection of anti-APV serum completely reversed the glutamate-induced enhancement of EA analgesia (Yang et al., 2006a). Furthermore, EA increased APV, but not OXT, concentrations in the PVH perfuse liquid and decreased the number of AVP, but not OXT, immunoreactive neurons in the PVH (Yang et al., 2006b). The data suggested that AVP, and not OXT, in the PVH may be important in the modulation of EA analgesia.

4.7.5. Neurotensin (NT)

NT-ergic fibers and NT receptors are distributed in the PAG, which is involved in modulation of nociception (Li et al., 2001; Tershner and Helmstetter, 2000). The effect of activity of NT receptors in the PAG on EA analgesia was assessed in the rat tail-flick test (Bai et al., 1999). Microinjection of NT into the PAG remarkably enhanced EA analgesia, which was attenuated by

microinjection of naloxone into the PAG. Opioid receptors in the PAG may participate in NT-induced potentiation of EA analgesia.

4.7.6. Dopamine (DA)

Several reports revealed that DA receptor antagonists potentiated EA analgesia (Han et al., 1979b; Wang et al., 1997; Wu et al., 1990; Xu et al., 1980). Receptor binding studies provided further support, in which DA receptor antagonists enhanced EA analgesia and up-regulated opioid receptors in many brain regions including the Cd, Po, PVH and PAG, suggesting that activity of opioid receptors may be one of the mechanisms in the potentiating action of haloperidol on acupuncture analgesia (Wang et al., 1994; Zhu et al., 1995). It appears that activity of DA receptors, particularly DA1 receptor, may reduce EA analgesia (Wang et al., 1999).

In addition, several reports showed that other bioactive substances (GDNF, GFR α -1, IL-1, adenosine, acetylcholine and Ca^{2+}) are probably involved in processing acupuncture analgesia. In the neuropathic pain model, mRNA levels of GFR α -1 were increased in the rat DRG. EA significantly reduced thermal hyperalgesia and potentiated GFR α -1 elevation, which were blocked by antisense oligodeoxynucleotide (ODN) specifically against GFR α -1. Also, EA potentiated neuropathic pain-induced increase of GDNF in the spinal dorsal horn. It is suggested that that EA activates the endogenous GFR α -1 and GDNF system in neuropathic pain (Dong et al., 2005b, 2006). EA reduced peripheral inflammation-induced increase of expression of IL-1 receptor I mRNA in rat periaqueductal gray (Ji et al., 2003). EA significantly attenuated cancer cell inoculation-induced thermal hyperalgesia, and inhibited the upregulation of IL-1beta and its mRNA compared to the sham control. Intrathecal injection of IL-1ra, IL-1 receptor antagonist, significantly inhibited cancer-induced thermal hyperalgesia, suggesting that EA alleviates bone cancer pain, at least in part by suppressing IL-1beta expression (Zhang et al., 2007c). Intrathecal administration of adenosine P1 receptor antagonists depressed EA-induced inhibition of nociceptive responses in spinal WDR neurons and blocked EA-induced increases in pain threshold in the rat (Liu et al., 1994a,b). EA significantly increased both pain threshold and the content of ACh in the cortex, caudate nucleus, hypothalamus and brainstem (Guan et al., 1984), and enhanced the activity of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) in the spinal cord (Ai et al., 1984). EA or morphine-induced analgesia with a clear increase in mitochondrial protein-bound Ca²⁺⁺ in the PAG and hypothalamus, which was blocked by i.c.v. administration of ruthenium red. It is suggested that Ca²⁺⁺ transport across the neuronal cell membrane may be implicated in EA analgesia (Xie et al., 1988).

5. Miscellaneous

5.1. Glial function in acupuncture analgesia

Increasing evidence has revealed that spinal cord glia (microglia and astrocytes) make important contributions to the development and maintenance of inflammatory and neuropathic pain (Deleo et al., 2004; Ledeboer et al., 2005; Ma and Zhao, 2002; Song and Zhao, 2001; Sun et al., 2007a; Watkins et al., 2005, 2007; Zhang et al., 2005c, 2007c). Also, recent studies found that spinal glia has an intimate relationship with EA analgesia (Kang et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2006, 2007b). Intrathecal application of fluorocitrate, a glial metabolic inhibitor, alone had no effect on basal thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia in monoarthritic rats. EA at unilateral "Huantiao" (GB30) and "Yanglingquan" (GB34) considerably reduced thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia. Moreover, when fluorocitrate was simultaneously administered with EA, EA analgesia was significantly potentiated, strongly suggesting that EA and disrupting glial function synergistically suppress inflammatory pain (Sun et al., 2006). Also, intrathecal injection of minocycline, a microglial inhibitor, or EA stimulation of ipsilateral "Huantiao" (GB30) and "Yanglingquan" (GB34) significantly suppressed CFA-induced nociceptive behavioral hypersensitivity and spinal microglial activation. Furthermore, combination of EA with minocycline significantly enhanced the inhibitory effects of EA on allodynia and hyperalgesia (Sun et al., 2007b). A similar result was found in a MPTP-induced Parkinson disease (PD) model. Acupuncture attenuated the increase in MAC-1, a marker of microglial activation, and reduced the increases in cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression in the PD model. Acupuncture could be used as a neuroprotective intervention for the purpose of inhibiting microglial activation and inflammatory events in PD (Kang et al., 2007). In addition, the gap junction protein connexin 43 (Cx43) is extensively expressed in the CNS, and serves in signal transmission between glia and neurons (Sa'ez et al., 2005). In connexin 43 gene knock-out mice, EA analgesia was partially reduced without change in pain threshold in comparison with wild-type mice (Yu et al., 2007).

These data provide direct evidence for the involvement of spinal microglial functional state in the anti-nociception of EA, suggesting that analgesic effects of EA might be associated with its counterregulation to spinal glial activation, and thereby provide a potential strategy for the treatment of arthritis.

5.2. Possible molecular mechanisms

Although molecular techniques have been used in the study of acupuncture analgesia, understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying acupuncture analgesia is preliminary and fragmentary.

G protein-coupled receptors, such as opioid receptors, are a focus of attention as pain targets. G proteins are classified mainly as Gs and Gi/o, which stimulate and inhibit the membrane effector adenylate cyclase, respectively. It has been demonstrated that pertussis toxin (PTX), an inhibitor of Gi/o protein signal transduction, prevents the antinociception mediated by opioid receptors (Przewlocki et al., 1987). In a recent report, the effect of PTX on EA analgesia was assessed (Liu et al., 2005). Spinal Gi/o-protein function was destroyed by 7 days of intrathecal pretreatment with pertussis toxin (PTX). In this condition, EA failed to inhibit hyperalgesia in the CFA inflammatory pain model, but did not affect either baseline pain threshold or CFA-induced hyperalgesia in the rat. These data suggest that PTX-sensitive Gi/o proteins and the spinal endogenous opioid-mediated signaling pathways may be implicated in anti-hyperalgesia by EA.

Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase (ERK) is a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), which mediates intracellular signal transduction involved in cell proliferation, differentiation, and neuronal plasticity. Increasing numbers of studies have demonstrated ERK phosphorylation in the nociceptive pathway (Ji et al., 2002; Obata and Noguchi, 2004). Recently, a preliminary study found that EA at contralateral Zusanli (ST-36) dramatically decreased intraplantar formalin-induced increase of pERK1/2positive neurons in the ipsilateral superficial dorsal horn of the rat, compared with the formalin group without EA. In EA alone without formalin treatment, a few positive-neurons were found. The results suggest that EA might produce inhibition of ERK1/2 phosphorylation in the spinal dorsal horn (Song et al., 2006).

Genes are regulated primarily at the transcriptional level. Moreover, transcription factors control target genes. A line of evidence has demonstrated that EA markedly induces a rapid expression of the *c-fos* gene in the spinal cord and various brain regions, suggesting that transcription factors are also involved in processing acupuncture signals. A family of possible targets is the three opioid genes: preproenkephalin (PPE), preprodynorphin (PPD) and pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC). EA is known to induce cfos expression, which precedes PPE gene expression (Ji et al., 1993a,b). Using antisense oligodeoxynucleotide ODNs of c-fos and/ or c-jun, researchers addressed (Guo et al., 1996) the role of Fos and Jun proteins in EA-induced transcription of the opioid genes preproenkephalin (PPE), preprodynorphin (PPD) and proopiomelanocortin (POMC). EA-induced Fos and Jun expression was blocked efficiently and specifically by *c-fos* and *c-jun* antisense ODNs, respectively. The antisense ODNs markedly decreased EAinduced PPD, but not PPE, mRNA expression. These results suggest that Fos and Jun proteins are involved in PPD rather than PPE gene transcription activated by EA stimulation.

Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) is another crucial regulator of inducible genes, and, as a transcriptional activator, is implicated in multiple functional processes including inflammation-induced hyperalgesia (Chan et al., 2000; Wood, 1995). The NF- κ B family consists of NF- κ B1 (p50/p105) and NF- κ B2. A study of NF- κ B1 knock-out mice showed that deletion of the NF- κ B1 gene induced a significant decrease of both low- and high-frequency EA-induced analgesia, compared with that in wild-type mice. The results imply that NF- κ B1 takes part in EA analgesia despite the fact that the mechanism is still unclear (Park et al., 2002).

In the rat neuropathic pain model, cDNA microarray analysis was used to compare the expression of 8400 genes and mRNAs that were pooled from the spinal cord in rats. Sixty-eight genes were differentially expressed more than two-fold in the neuropathic rat model compared to the normal, and restored to the normal expression level after EA treatment. By a dot-blot analysis, among the 68 genes, the mRNA expression level of 8, such as the opioid receptor sigma gene, MAP kinase, zinc finger protein, and tyrosine phosphatase, was down-regulated in the neuropathic pain model compared to the normal rat, and the mRNA expression level of these genes was restored to the normal state following EA treatment. Therefore, multiple signaling pathways, including opioid receptor- and MAP kinase-mediated pathways, as well as other gene expression, might be involved in pain development and EA analgesia (Ko et al., 2002).

As mentioned above, there are individual differences and EA frequency-dependency in acupuncture analgesia. Using inbred strains of rodents, Mogil (1999) found that robust strain differences in analgesic sensitivity suggest a role of inherited genetic factors. Therefore, a revealing study analyzed the effect of genotype on sensitivity to EA analgesia in 10 common inbred mouse strains (129P3 (129), A, AKR, BALB/c (B/c), C3H/He (C3H), C57BL/6 (B6), C57BL/10 (B10), C58, RIIIS (R3) and SM) (Wan et al., 2001). Among them, the B10 strain was the most sensitive, and the SM strain was the least sensitive to EA frequency both at 2 and 100 Hz. However, the relative sensitivities of the other strains to these two EA frequencies suggested some genetic dissociation between them as well. An intriguing finding is the significant difference in 2 Hz EA-induced analgesia between C57BL/6 (B6) and B10 strains. It is known that there is allelic variation in microsatellites of the delta gene between sublines B10 and B6. This raises the possibility that B10 and B6 may have different allelic forms of the gene encoding delta and hence show variation in their analgesic responses to EA.

A recent study was conducted to identify and characterize the genes that differ between high-responders and low-responders to acupuncture stimulation in human volunteers, using cDNA microarrays. Fifteen participants were stimulated at "Hegu" (LI-4), and the finger withdrawal latency as the pain threshold was used to classify high- and low-responders. The pain threshold was significantly elevated by acupuncture in the high-responders,

whereas there was little increase in the low-responders. In the high-responder group, 353 and 22 genes were up- and down-regulated, respectively. However, a measure of psychological variation did not differ significantly between the two groups (Chae et al., 2006). These findings provide a role for inherited genetic factors as a possible explanation of individual differences in acupuncture analgesia.

6. Conclusions and consideration

Acupuncture, an age-old healing art, has been accepted to effectively treat various diseases, particularly chronic pain. Despite the involvement of psychological factors in acupuncture treatment of patients and stress in animal behavioral tests, a large volume of evidence clearly demonstrates that acupuncture analgesia has physiological, anatomical and neurochemical bases.

- (1) Acupuncture analgesia is manifest only when the intricate feeling of acupuncture (soreness, numbness, heaviness and distension), so-called "De-Qi", occurs. Such a "De-Qi" feeling mainly originates from acupuncture-induced impulses from local muscle contraction beneath the acupoint.
- (2) Types of afferent nerve fibers activated by acupuncture depend upon the manipulation methods and individual differences in sensitization. Manual acupuncture (MA): all types (Aβ, Aδ and C) of afferent fibers are activated to conduct the signal. Electroacupuncture (EA): electrical current via acupuncture needles at intensities strong enough to excite Aβ- (group II) and part of Aδtype afferents (group III) can induce an analgesic effect.
- (3) Acupuncture analgesia is essentially a manifestation of integrative processes at different levels of the CNS between afferent impulses from the pain regions and impulses from acupoints. Segmental mechanisms in the spinal cord contribute to the functionally relative specificity of acupoints.
- (4) Spinal pathways of acupuncture impulses from acupoints ascend mainly through the ventrolateral funiculus. A complex network of many brain structures is involved in processing acupuncture analgesia, including the VRM (mainly NRM), PAG, LC, Arc, Po, Sm, AptN, Hab, Ac, Cd, Sp, amygdala, etc. Most of nuclei are constitutive parts of the endogenous descending inhibitory system in the CNS. Activity in most nuclei mediates acupuncture analgesia, except for the Hab and LC, which antagonize it.
- (5) Various signal molecules are implicated in acupuncture analgesia, such as opioid peptides (μ -, δ and κ -receptors), cholecystokinin octapeptide (CCK-8), glutamate (NMDA and AMPA/KA receptors), 5-hydroxytryptamine and noradrenalin. Among them, opioid peptides and their receptors play a pivotal role in mediating acupuncture analgesia. The release of opioid peptides evoked by EA is frequency-dependent. EA at 2 and 100 Hz induce release of enkephalin and dynorphin in the spinal cord, respectively. In accord with the effect of morphine analgesia, CCK antagonizes acupuncture analgesia.

Further considerations associated with acupuncture analgesia include:

(1) Serious basic research on "acupuncture analgesia" begun at the end of the 1960s when "acupuncture anesthesia" was used in surgical operations in China. Scientists are devoted to explaining this mysterious phenomenon. Notwithstanding the fact that acupuncture can induce an analgesic effect, no evidence shows that it has any anesthetic effect. Strictly speaking, the term "acupuncture anesthesia" is vague. In fact, when acupuncture alone, without adjunct drugs, is performed for surgery, the effectiveness is not satisfactory in most cases. Given the progress in pain research, it is well-documented that some receptor antagonists and agonists depress pain transmission. Some studies have indicated that a combination of acupuncture and adjunct drugs (antagonists or agonists) can powerfully strengthen acupuncture analgesia (Cao, 1997; Zhang et al., 2004b; Zhu et al., 1997a,b). It is, therefore, conceivable that the development of "acupuncture-drugassisted anesthesia," acupuncture with adjunct drugs, may be a hopeful route for surgery (Han, 1997; Wu, 2005).

- (2) Acupuncture can effectively treat chronic pain in patients. In other words, the development of acupuncture analgesia depends on the treatment of chronic pain. However, most previous studies on acupuncture analgesia focused on physiological pain in normal animals and human volunteers. Increasing evidence has demonstrated that the mechanisms underlying pathological pain are much more complex than physiological pain (Scholz and Woolf, 2007). Moreover, a notable experiment revealed that the analgesic effects of acupuncture in normal rats and rats with inflammation were evidently different (Sekido et al., 2003). There were so-called responders and non-responders for acupuncture analgesia in normal rats, whereas all those with inflammation hyperalgesia were responders and manifested acupuncture analgesia, strongly suggesting that diverse mechanisms underlie acupuncture analgesia in physiological and pathological pain. To substantially explore the mechanisms of acupuncture analgesia, adequate models of chronic pain should be selected for research.
- (3) Conflicting results of acupuncture analgesia are probably attributed to various experimental conditions (pain models, MA or EA, acupoints, and insertion depth). For instance, EA current parameters (frequency, intensity, duration and polarization of pulses) differ in different studies. Particularly, EA intensity is rarely monitored. Generally, which types of afferent nerve fibers were excited was unknown in most of the previous studies, and this might be an important reason for the conflicting results. How to make experimental conditions as identical as possible will play a key role in acupuncture analgesia research.

Acknowledgements

The author wishes to thank Prof. Cao for her critical reading of the manuscript and Mr. D. Zhou for helping with making figures. This work was supported by grants from the National Basic Research Program (No. 2007CB5125 and 2006CB500807) of China.

References

- Aanonsen, L.M., Lei, S., Wilcox, G.L., 1990. Excitatory amino acid receptors and nociceptive neurotransmission in rat spinal cord. Pain 41, 309–321.
- Acupuncture Anesthesia Group, 2nd Laboratory of Shanghai Institute of Physiology, 1976. Possible role of the caudate nucleus in acupuncture analgesia. Chin. Med. J. 2, 148.
- Acupuncture Anesthesia Coordinating Group, Hua Shan Hospital of Shanghai First Medical College, 1977. Observation on electrical stimulation of the caudate nucleus of human brain and acupuncture in treatment of intractable pain. Chin. Med. J. 3, 117–124.
- Ai, M.K., Guan, X.M., Zhu, C.G., 1984. The immunocytochemical and histochemical observations on the changes of substance P, enkephalin and acetylcholinesterase in the spinal cord of rats during electroacupuncture and morphine analgesia. In: The Second National Symposium on Acupuncture and Moxibustion and Acupuncture Anesthesia, Beijing, China. All-China Society of Acupuncturee and Moxibustion, pp. 455–456.
- Andersson, S.A., Holmgren, E., 1975. On acupuncture analgesia and the mechanism of pain. Am. J. Chin. Med. 3, 311–3345.
- Akil, H., Walson, S.J., Young, E., Lewis, M.E., Khachaturian, H., Walter, J.M., 1984. Endogenous opioid: biology and function. Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 223–255.

- Bai, B., Wang, H., Liu, W.-Y., Song, C.-Y., 1999. Effect of anti-opioid peptide sera on the enhancement of electroacupuncture analgesia induced by neurotensin in PAG of rats. Acta Physiol. Sin. 51, 224–228 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Basbaum, A.I., Jessell, T.M., 2001. The perception of pain. In: Kandel, E.R., Schwartz, J.H., Jessell, T.M. (Eds.), Principles of Neural Science. McGraw-Hall, pp. 472– 491.
- Baumgarten, H.G., Bjorklund, B., Lachenmayer, L., Nobin, A., Stenevi, U., 1972. Long lasting selective depletion of brain 5-HT by 5,6-dihydroxytryptamine. Acta Physiol. Scand. 84 (Suppl. 373), 1–15.
- Bausell, R.B., Lao, L., Bergman, S., Lee, W.L., Berman, B.M., 2005. Is acupuncture analgesia an expectancy effect? Preliminary evidence based on participants' perceived assignments in two placebo-controlled trials. Eval. Health Prof. 28, 9–26.
- Benedetti, F., 1996. The opposite effects of the opiate antagonist naloxone and the cholevyctokinin antagonist proglumide on placebo analgesia. Pain 64, 535–543.
- Benedetti, F., Amanzio, M., 1997. The neurobiology of placebo analgesia: from endogenous opioids to cholecyctokinin. Prog. Neurobiol. 51, 109–125.
- Biella, G., Sotgiu, M.L., Pellegata, G., Paulesu, E., Castiglioni, I., Fazio, F., 2001. Acupuncture produces central activations in pain regions. Neuroimage 14, 60–66.
- Bing, Z., Villanueva, L., Le Bars, D., 1990. Acupuncture and diffuse noxious inhibitory controls: naloxone-reversible depression of activities of trigeminal convergent neurons. Neuroscience 37, 809–818.
- Bing, Z., Cesselin, F., Bourgoin, S., Clot, A.M., Hamon, M., Le Bars, D., 1991a. Acupuncture-like stimulation induces a heterosegmental release of Met-enkephalin-like material in the rat spinal cord. Pain 47, 71–77.
- Bing, Z., Villanueva, L., Le Bars, D., 1991b. Acupuncture-evoked responses of subnucleus reticularis dorsalis neurons in the rat medulla. Neuroscience 44, 693– 703.
- Bloom, F., Battenberg, E., Rossier, J., Ling, N., Guillemin, R., 1978. Neurons containing β-endophin in rat brain exist separately from those containing enkephalin: immunocytochemical studies. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 1591–1595.
- Boucher, T.J., Okuse, K., Bennett, D.L., Munson, J.B., Wood, J.N., McMahon, S.B., 2000. Potent analgesic effects of GDNF in neuropathic pain states. Science 290, 124– 127.
- Cao, X.D., 1997. From acupuncture anesthesia to acupuncture balance anesthesia. World I. Acupunct. Moxib. 7. 19–24.
- Cao, X.D., 2002. Scientific bases of acupuncture analgesia. Acupunct. Electrotherap. Res. Int. J. 27, 1–14.
- Carlsson, C.P.O., 2001. Acupuncture mechanisms for clinical long-term effects, a hypothesis. Int. Cong. Series 1238, 31–47.
 Carlton, S.M., Coggeshall, R.E., 1997. Immunohistochemical localization of 5-HT_{2A}
- Carlton, S.M., Coggeshall, R.E., 1997. Immunohistochemical localization of 5-HT_{2A} receptors in peripheral sensory axons in rat glabrous skin. Brain Res. 763, 271– 275.
- Chae, Y., Park, H.J., Hahm, D.H., Yi, S.H., Lee, H., 2006. Individual differences of acupuncture analgesia in humans using cDNA microarray. J. Physiol. Sci. 56, 425–431.
- Chan, C.F., Sun, W.Z., Lin, J.K., Lin-Shiau, S.Y., 2000. Activation of transcription factors of nuclear factor kappa B, activator protein-1 and octamer factors in hyperalgesia. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 402, 61–68.
- Chan, C.W.Y., Tsang, H., 1987. Inhibition of human flexion reflex by low intensity high frequency transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) has a gradual onset and offset. Pain 28, 239–253.
- Chang, F.C., Tsai, H.Y., Yu, M.C., Yi, P.L., Lin, J.G., 2004. The central serotonergic system mediates the analgesic effect of electroacupuncture on ZUSANLI (ST36) acupoints. J. Biomed. Sci. 11, 179–185.
- Chang, H.T., 1973. Integrative action of thalamus in the process of acupuncture for analgesia. Sci. Sin. 16, 25–60.
- Chang, H.T., 1980. Neurophysiological interpretation of acupuncture analgesia. Endeavour 3, 92–96.
- Chapman, C.R., Benedetti, C., Colpitts, Y.H., Gerlach, R., 1983. Naloxone fails to reverse pain thresholds elevated by acupuncture: acupuncture analgesia reconsidered. Pain 16, 13–31.
- Chen, B.Y., Pan, X.P., 1984. Correlation of pain threshold and level of β-endorphinlike immunoreactive substance in human CSF during AA. Acta Physiol. Sin. 36, 183–187.
- Chen, X.H., Geller, E.B., Adler, M.W., 1998. CCK(B) receptors in the periaqueductal grey are involved in electroacupuncture antinociception in the rat cold water tail-flick test. Neuropharmacology 37, 751–757.
- Chiang, C.Y., Chang, C.T., Chu, H.C., Yang, L.F., 1973. Peripheral afferent pathway for acupuncture analgesia. Sci. Sin. (B) 16, 210–217.
- Chiang, C.Y., Liu, J.Y., Chu, T.H., Pai, Y.H., Chang, S.C., 1975. Studies of spinal ascending pathway for acupuncture analgesia. Sci. Sin. (B) 18, 651–658.
- Choi, B.T., Lee, J.H., Wan, Y., Han, H.J., 2005a. Involvement of ionotropic glutamate receptors in low frequency electroacupuncture analgesia in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 377, 185–188.
- Choi, B.T., Kang, J., Jo, U.B., 2005b. Effects of electroacupuncture with different frequencies on spinal ionotropic glutamate receptor expression in complete Freund's adjuvant-injected rat. Acta Histochem. 107, 67–76.
- Chung, J.M., Fang, Z.R., Hori, Y., Lee, K.H., Willis, W.D., 1984. Prolonged inhibition of primate spinothalamic tract cells by peripheral nerve stimulation. Pain 19, 259– 275.
- Chung, J.M., 1989. Neurophysiological mechanisms of acupuncture analgesia in experimental animal models. In: Pomeranz, B., Stus, G. (Eds.), Scientific Bases of Acupuncture. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 137–155.

- Coggeshall, R.E., Carlton, S.M., 1998. Ultrastructural analysis of NMDA, AMPA and kainite receptors on unmyelinated and myelinated axons in the periphery. J. Comp. Neurol. 391, 78–86.
- Cui, K.M., Li, W.M., Gao, X., Chung, J.M., Wu, G.C., 2005. Electro-acupuncture relieves chronic visceral hyperalgesia in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 376, 20–23.
- Dai, Y., Kondo, E., Fukuoka, T., Tokunaga, A., Miki, K., Noguchi, K., 2001. The effect of electroacupuncture on pain behaviors and noxious stimulus-evoked Fos expression in a rat model of neuropathic pain. J. Pain 2, 151–159.
- de Medeiros, M.A., Canteras, N.S., Suchecki, D., Mello, L.E., 2003. Analgesia and c-Fos expression in the periaqueductal gray induced by electroacupuncture at the Zusanli point in rats. Brain Res. 973, 196–204.
- Deleo, J.A., Tanga, F.Y., Tawfik, V.L., 2004. Neuroimmune activation and neuroinflammation in chronic pain and opioid tolerance/hyperalgesia. Neuroscientist 10, 40–52.
- Department of Physiology, Kirin Medical College, Changchun, China, 1977. The Inhibition effect and the mode of action of electro-acupuncture upon discharges from the pain-sensitive cells in spinal trigeminal nucleus. Sci. Sin. 20, 485–501.
- Department of Physiology and Research Department of Acupuncture Anesthesia. Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences, Shanghai First Medical College, 1979. The effect of electroacupuncture on neurons of the caudate nucleus. Chin. Med. J. 92, 541–547.
- Dong, X.W., Jiang, Z.-H., Fu, L.W., 1978. Changes in monoamine fluorescence intensity in the rat's midbrain raphe nuclei and locus coeruleus in the process of acupuncture analgesia. Acta Biochem. Biophys. Sin. 10, 119–125 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Dong, X.-W., Jiang, Z.-H., 1981. Acupuncture-induced analgesia and increase in monoamine fluorescence intensity in the rat nucleus raphe magnus. Acta Physiol. Sin. 33, 24–29 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Dong, X.-W., Ye, W.L., Feng, X.C., Shen, E., 1984. Effects of acupuncture analgesia by injection of 5,6-DHT into the rat's Locus Coeruleus: a histofluoresence, neurochemical and behavioral study. In: The Second National Symposium on Acupuncture and Moxibustion and Acupuncture Anesthesia, Beijing. All-China Society of Acupuncturee and Moxibustion, pp. 438–439.
- Dong, W.-Q., He, L.-F., Wang, M.-Z., Li, K.-Y., Huang, X.-F., 1987. Effects of iontophoretic etrophine and electroacupuncture on evoked neuronal response in anterior nuclei of rabbits' thalamus. Chin. J. Physiol. Sci 3, 244–250.
- Dong, Z.-Q., Xie, H., Ma, F., Li, W.-M., Wang, Y.-Q., Wu, G.-C., 2005a. Effects of electroacupuncture on expression of somatostatin and preprosomatostatin mRNA in dorsal root ganglions and spinal dorsal horn in neuropathic pain rats. Neurosci Lett. 385, 189–194.
- Dong, Z.-Q., Ma, F., Xie, H., Wang, Y.-Q., Wu, G.-C., 2005b. Changes of expression of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor and its receptor in dorsal root ganglions and spinal dorsal horn during electroacupuncture treatment in neuropathic pain rats. Neurosci. Lett. 376, 143–148.
- Dong, Z.-Q., Ma, F., Xie, H., Wang, Y.-Q., Wu, G.-C., 2006. Down-regulation of GFRα-1 expression by antisense oligodeoxynucleotide attenuates electroacupuncture analgesia on heat hyperalgesia in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Brain Res. Bull. 69, 30–36.
- Dougherty, P.M., Willis, W.D., 1991. Enhancement of spinothalamic neuron responses to chemical and mechanical stimuli following combined microiontophoretic application of *N*-methyl-D-aspartic acid and substance P. Pain 47, 85–93.
- Du, H.J., Zhao, Y.F., 1975. Central localization of descending inhibition of visceralsomatic reflex produced by acupuncture. Sci. Sin. (B) 18, 631–639.
- Du, H.J., Zhao, Y.F., 1976. Localization of central structures involved in descending inhibitory effect of acupuncture on visceral-somatic reflex discharges. Sci. Sin. (B) 19, 137–148.
- Du, H.J., Shen, E., Dong, X.W., Jiang, Z.H., Ma, W.X., Fu, L.W., Jin, G.Z., Zahgn, Z.D., Han, Y.F., Yu, L.P., Feng, J., 1978. Effects on acupuncture analgesia by injection of 5,6dihydroxytryptamine in cat: a neurophysiological, neurochemical, and fluorescence histochemical study. Acta Zool. Sin. 24, 11–20 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Du, J., He, L., 1992. Alterations of spinal dorsal horn substance P following electroacupuncture analgesia—a study of the formalin test with immunohistochemistry and densitometry. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. 17, 1–6.
- Du, J., Zhou, S., Coggeshall, R.E., Carlton, S.M., 2003. N-Methyl-D-aspartate-induced excitation and sensitization of normal and inflamed nociceptors. Neuroscience 118, 547–562.
- Duggan, A.W., Hendry, I.A., Morton, C.R., Hutchison, W.D., Zhao, Z.-Q., 1987. Cutaneous stimuli releasing immunoreactive substance P in the dorsal horn of the cat. Brain Res. 451, 261–273.
- Ehernpreis, S., Balagot, C., Comathy, J., Myles, S., 1978. Narcotic reversible analgesia in mice produced by D-phenylanaline and hydrocinnamic acid, inhibitors of carboxypeptidase A. Adv. Pain Res. Ther. 3, 479–488.
- Ezzo, J., Berman, B., Hadhazy, V.A., Jadad, A.R., Lao, L., Singh, B.B., 2000. Is acupuncture effective for the treatment of chronic pain? A systematic review. Pain 86, 217–225.
- Fang, J.L., Krings, T., Weidemann, J., Meister, G., Thron, A., 2004. Functional MRI in healthy subjects during acupuncture: different effects of needle rotation in real and sham acupoints. Neuroradiology 46, 359–362.
- Farber, P.L., Tachibana, A., Campiglia, H.M., 1997. Increased pain threshold following electroacupuncture: analgesia is induced mainly in meridian acupuncture points. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. 22, 109–117.
- Faris, P.L., Komisaruk, B.R., Watkin, L.R., 1983. Evidence for the neuropeptide cholecystokinin as an antagonist of opiate analgesia. Science 219, 310–312.

- Fei, H., Xie, G.X., Han, J.S., 1987. Low and high frequency electroacupuncture stimulation release [Met5]enkephalin and dynorphin A in rat spinal cord. Sci. Bull. China 32, 1496–1501.
- Fields, H.L., Basbaum, A.I., Heinricher, M.M., 2005. Central nervous system mechanisms of pain modulation. In: Wall, Melzack, (Eds.), Text book of Pain. fifth ed. Elsevier.
- Fung, S.J., Chan, S.H.H., 1976. Primary afferent depolarization evoked by electroacupuncture in the lumbar cord of the cat. Exp. Neurol. 52, 168–176.
- Fusumada, K., Yokoyama, T., Miki, T., Wang, Z.Y., Yang, W., Lee, N.S., Endo, Y., Takeuchi, Y., 2007. c-Fos expression in the periaqueductal gray is induced by electroacupuncture in the rat, with possible reference to GABAergic neurons. Okajimas Folia Anat. Jpn. 84, 1–9.
- Gao, Y.J., Ren, W.H., Zhang, Y.Q., Zhao, Z.Q., 2004. Contributions of the anterior cingulate cortex and amygdala to pain- and fear- conditioned place avoidance in rats. Pain 110, 343–353.
- Grisel, J.E., Mogil, J.S., Belknap, J.K., Grandy, D.K., 1996. Orphanin FQ acts as a supraspinal, but not a spinal, anti-opioid peptide. NeuroReport 7, 2125–2129.
- Guan, X.M., Wang, C.Y., Liu, X.C., Zhang, Y.W., Zheng, X.Y., Liang, X.C., Li, L.L., 1984. The influence of ACh on the metabolism of monoamine transmitters in the brain during acupuncture analgesia. In: The Second National Symposium on Acupuncture and Moxibustion and Acupuncture Anesthesia, Beijing. All-China Society of Acupuncture and Moxibustion, pp. 409–410.
- Guo, H.F., Tian, J.H., Wang, X.M., Fan, Y., Hou, Y.P., Han, J.S., 1996. Brain substrates activated by electroacupuncture EA of different frequencies II: role of Fos/Jun proteins in EA-induced transcription of preproenkephalin and preprodynorphin genes. Mol. Brain Res. 43, 167–173.
- Guo, Z.L., Moazzamia, A.R., Longhursta, J.C., 2004. Electroacupuncture induces c-Fos expression in the rostral ventrolateral medulla and periaqueductal gray in cats: relation to opioid containing neurons. Brain Res. 1030, 103–115.
- Ha, H., Tan, E.-C., Fukunaga, H., Aochi, O., 1991. Naloxone reversal of acupuncture analgesia in the monkey. Exp. Neurol. 73, 298–303.
- Haker, E., Lundeberg, T., 1990. Acupuncture treatment in epicondylalgia: a comparative study of two acupuncture techniques. Clin. J. Pain 6, 221–226.
- Hamon, M., Gallissot, M.C., Menard, F., Gozlan, H., Bourgoin, S., Verge, D., 1989. 5-HT3 binding sites are on capsaicin-sensitive fibers in the rat spinal cord. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 164, 315–322.
- Hamma, Bourgoin, S., 1999. Serotonin and its receptors in pain control. In: Sawynok, J., Cowan, A. (Eds.), Novel Aspects of Pain Management: Opioids and Beyond. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, pp. 203–228.
- Han, J.S., 1986. Physiological and neurochemical basis of acupuncture analgesia. In: Cheng, T.O. (Ed.), International Textbook of Cardiology. Pergamon, New York.
- Han, J.S., 1989. Central neurotransmitters and acupuncture analgesia. In: Pomeranz, B., Stus, G. (Eds.), Scientific Bases of Acupuncture. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 7–33.
- Han, J.-S., 1997. Acupuncture anesthesia versus acupuncture-assisted anesthesia. World J. Acupunct. Moxib. 7, 16–18.
- Han, J.-S., 2003. Acupuncture: neuropeptide release produced by electrical stimulation of different frequencies. Trends Neurosci. 26, 17–22.
- Han, J.-S., Chou, P.H., Lu, C.H., Yang, T.H., Lu, L.H., Jen, M.F., 1979a. The role of central 5-HT in acupuncture analgesia. Sci. Sin. 22, 91–104.
- Han, J.-S., Ren, M.-F., Tang, J., Fan, S.-G., Xu, J.M., Guan, X.M., 1979b. The role of catecholamine in acupuncture analgesia. Chin. Med. J. 92, 793–800.
- Han, J.S., Zhang, Y.Z., Zhou, Z.F., Tang, J., 1981. Augmentation of acupuncture analgesia by peptidase inhibitor p-phenylalanine in rabbits. Acta Zool. Sin. 27, 133–137 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Han, J.-S., Terenius, L., 1982. Neurochemical basis of acupuncture analgesia. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 22, 193–220.
- Han, J.S., Zhou, Z., Xuan, Y., 1983. Acupuncture has an analgesic effect in rabbits. Pain 15, 83–91.
- Han, J.S., Xie, G.X., Zhou, Z.F., 1984. Acupuncture mechanisms in rabbits studied with microinjection of antibodies against β-endophin, enkephalin and substance P. Neuropharmacology 23, 1–5.
- Han, J.-S., Chen, X.H., Sun, S.L., Xu, X.J., Yuan, Y., Yan, S.C., Hao, J.X., Terenius, L., 1991. Effect of low- and high-frequency TENS on metenkephalin-Arg-Phe and dynorphin A immunoreactivity in human lumbar cerebrospinal fluid. Pain 47, 295– 298.
- Han, J.-S., 1995. Cholecystokinin octapeptide (CCK-8): a negative feedback control mechanism for opioid analgesia. Prog. Brain Res. 105, 263–271.
- Han, N., Luo, F., Bian, Z., Han, J., 2000. Synergistic effect of cholecystokinin octapeptide and angiotensin II in reversal of morphine induced analgesia in rats. Pain 85, 465–469.
- He, L.F., Xu, S.F., 1981. Caudate nucleus and acupuncture analgesia. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. Int. J. 6, 169–183.
- He, L.F., Lu, R.L., Zhuang, S.Y., Zhang, X.Q., Pan, X.P., 1985. Possible involvement of opioid peptides of caudate nucleus in acupuncture analgesia. Pain 23, 83–93.
- He, LF., 1987. Involvement of endogenous opioid peptides in acupuncture analgesia. Pain 31, 99–121.
- Herkenham, M., Nauta, W.J.H., 1977. Afferent connections of the habenular nuclei in the rat. A horseradish peroxidase study, with a note on the fiber-of-passage problem. J. Comp. Neural 173, 123–146.
- Herkenham, M., Nauta, W.J.H., 1979. Efferent connections of the habenular nuclei in the rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 187, 19–48.
- Hjorth, S., 1993. Serotonin 5-HT1A autoreceptor blockade potentiates the ability of the 5-HT reuptake inhibitor citalopram to increase nerve terminal output of 5-HT in vivo; a microdialysis study. J. Neurochem. 60, 776–779.

- Hsieh, J.-C., Tu, C.-H., Chen, F.-P., Chen, M.-C., Yeh, T.-C., Cheng, H.-C., Wu, Y.-T., Liu, R.-S., Ho, L.-T., 2001. Activation of the hypothalamus characterizes the acupuncture stimulation at the analgesic point in human: a positron emission tomography study. Neurosci. Lett. 307, 105–108.
- Hu, J.Y., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2001. Differential contributions of NMDA and non-NMDA receptor to spinal c-Fos expression evoked by superficial tissue and muscle inflammation in the rat. Neuroscience 106, 823–831.
- Hu, S.J., Hu, J.J., Liu, D.M., 1982. The centrifugal inhibitory action of acupuncture on nociceptors and its relation with the sympathetic nerve. Acta Zool. Sin. 28, 131– 138 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Hu, S.J., Hu, J.J., Fan, J.Z., 1980. The influence of dorsal half transection of the spinal cord on inhibitory effect of electroacupuncture upon the medbrain discharges. Acta Zool. Sin. 26, 115–120 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Hu, Z.L., 1979. A study on the histological structure of acupuncture points and types of fibers conveying needling sensation. Chin. Med. J. 92, 233.
- Huang, C., Wang, Y., Chang, J.-K., Han, J.-S., 2000. Endomorphin and m-opioid receptors in mouse brain mediate the analgesic effect induced by 2 Hz but not 100 Hz electroacupuncture stimulation. Neurosci. Lett. 294, 159–162.
- Huang, C., Hua, Z.P., Jiang, S.Z., Li, H.-T., Han, J.-S., Wan, Y., 2007. CCK-8 receptor antagonist L365,260 potentiates the efficacy to and reverses chronic tolerance to electroacupuncture-induced analgesia in mice. Brain Res. Bull. 71, 447–451.
- Huang, C., Long, H., Shi, Y.-S., Han, J.-S., Wan, Y., 2003. Nocistatin potentiates electroacupuncture antinociceptive effects and reverses chronic tolerance to electroacupuncture in mice. Neurosci. Lett. 350, 93–96.
- Huang, C., Li, H.-T., Shi, Y.-S., Han, J.-S., Wan, Y., 2004. Ketamine potentiates the effect of electroacupuncture on mechanical allodynia in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Neurosci. Lett. 368, 327–331.
- Hui, K.K., Liu, J., Makris, N., Gollub, R.L., Chen, A.J., Moore, C.I., Kennedy, D.N., Rosen, B.R., Kwong, K.K., 2000. Acupuncture modulates the limbic system and subcortical gray structures of the human brain: evidence from fMRI studies in normal subjects. Hum. Brain Mapp. 9, 13–25.
- Hui, K.K., Liu, J., Marina, O., Napadow, V., Haselgrove, C., Kwong, K.K., Kennedy, D.N., Makris, N., 2005. The integrated response of the human cerebro-cerebellar and limbic systems to acupuncture stimulation at ST 36 as evidenced by fMRI. Neuroimage 27, 479–496.
- Hunt, S.P., Mantyh, P.W., 2001. The molecular dynamics of pain control. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2, 83–91.
- Ito, S., Katssura, G., Maeda, Y., 1982. Caerulein and CCK suppress endorphin induced analgesia in the rat. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 80, 270–289.
- Ji, G.C., Yu, J., Dong, Z.Q., Wu, G.C., 2003. Changes of expression of IL-1 receptor I mRNA in rat periaqueductal gray after peripheral inflammation and electroacupuncture analgesia. Acupunct. Res. 28, 111–140.
- Ji, R.R., Zhang, Q., Han, J.S., 1993a. Electroacupuncture stimulation induced the synthesis of Fos-like protein in rat spinal cord. Acta Physiol. Sin. 44, 394–400 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Ji, R.R., Zhang, Q., Han, J.S., 1993b. Electroacupuncture stimulation promotes preproenkephalin mRNA expression in rat spinal cord and medulla. Acta Physiol. Sin. 45, 395–399 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Ji, R.R., Befort, K., Brenner, G.J., Woolf, C.J., 2002. ERK MAP kinase activation in superficial spinal cord neurons induces prodynorphin and NK-1 upregulation and contributes to persistent inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. J. Neurosci. 22, 478–485.
- Jiang, Z.Y., Ye, Q., Shen, Y.T., Zhu, F.X., Tang, S.Q., Liang, N.J., Zeng, X.C., 1978. Effects of naloxone on experimental AA evaluated by sensory decision theory. Acta Zool. Sin. 24, 1–10.
- Jin, H.O., Zhou, L., Lee, K.Y., Chang, T.M., Chen, W.Y., 1996. Inhibition of acid secretion by electrical acupuncture is mediated via betaendorphin and somatostatin. Am. J. Physiol. 271, 524–530.
- Kang, J.M., Park, H.J., Choi, Y.G., Choe, I.H., Park, J.H., Kim, Y.S., Lim, S., 2007. Acupuncture inhibits microglial activation and inflammatory events in the MPTP-induced mouse model. Brain Res. 1131, 211–219.
- Kaada, B., Jorum, E., Sagvolden, T., Ansethwoen, T.E., 1979. Analgesia induced by trigeminal nerve stimulation (electro-acupuncture) abolished by nuclei raphe lesions in rats. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. 4, 221–234.
- Kawakita, K., Funakoshi, M., 1982. Suppression of the jaw-opening reflex by conditioning a-delta fiber stimulation and electroacupuncture in the rat. Exp. Neurol. 78, 461–465.
- Kawakita, K., Itoh, K., Okada, K., 2002. The polymodal receptor hypothesis of acupuncture and moxibustion, and its rational explanation of acupuncture points. Int. Congress Ser. 1238, 63–68.
- Kayser, V., Elfassi, I.E., Aubel, B., Melfort, M., Julius, D., Gingrich, J.A., Hamon, M., Bourgoin, S., 2007. Mechanical, thermal and formalin-induced nociception is differentially altered in 5-HT1A^{-/-}, 5-HT1B^{-/-}, 5-HT2A^{-/-}, 5-HT3A^{-/-} and 5-HTT^{-/-} knock-out male mice. Pain 130, 235–248.
- Kerr, F.W.L., Wilson, P.R., Daniel, E., Nijensohn, D.E., 1978. Acupuncture reduces the trigeminal evoked response in decerebrate cats. Exp. Neurol. 61, 84–95.
- Kishioka, S., Miyamoto, Y., Fukunaga, Y., Nishida, S., Yamamoto, H., 1994. Effects of a mixture of peptidase inhibitors (amastatin, captopril and phosphoramidon) on Met-enkephalin-, beta-endorphin-, dynorphin-(1-13)- and electroacupuncture-induced antinociception in rats. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 66, 337– 345.
- Kim, J.H., Min, B.I., Schmidt, D., Lee, H.J., Park, D.S., 2000. The difference between electroacupuncture only and electroacupuncture with manipulation on analgesia in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 279, 149–152.

- Kim, J.H., Min, B.-I., Na, H.S., Park, D.S., 2004. Relieving effects of electroacupuncture on mechanical allodynia in neuropathic pain model of inferior caudal trunk injury in rat: mediation by spinal opioid receptors. Brain Res. 998, 230–236.
- Kim, S.K., Park, J.H., Ba, S.J., Kim, J.H., Hwang, B.G., Mina, B.-I., Park, D.S., Na, H.S., 2005. Effects of electroacupuncture on cold allodynia in a rat model of neuropathic pain: mediation by spinal adrenergic and serotonergic receptors. Exp. Neurol. 195, 430–436.
- Ko, J., Na, D.S., Lee, Y.H., Shin, S.Y., Kim, J.H., Hwang, B.G., Min, B.-Il., Park, D.S., 2002. cDNA microarray analysis of the differential gene expression in the neuropathic pain and electroacupuncture treatment models. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 35, 420– 427.
- Ko, E.S., Kim, S.K., Kim, J.T., Lww, G., Han, J.-B., Rho, S.W., Hong, M.C., Bae, H., Mim, B.-I., 2006. The difference in mRNA expressions of hypothalamic CCK and CCK-A and -B receptors between responder and non-responder rats to high frequency electroacupuncture analgesia. Peptides 27, 1841–1845.
- Kong, J., Ma, L., Gollub, R.L., Wei, J., Yang, X., Li, D., Weng, X., Jia, F., Wang, C., Li, F., Li, R., Zhuang, D., 2002. A pilot study of functional magnetic resonance imaging of the brain during manual and electroacupuncture stimulation of acupuncture point (LI-4 Hegu) in normal subjects reveals differential brain activation between methods. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 8, 411–419.
- Kong, J., Fufa, D.T., Gerber, A.J., Rosman, S., Vangel, M.G., Gracely, R.H., Gollub, R.L., 2005. Psychophysical outcomes from a randomized pilot study of manual, electro, and sham acupuncture treatment on experimentally induced thermal pain. J. Pain 6, 55–64.
- Langevin, H.M., Churchill, D.L., Cipolla, M.J., 2001. Mechanical signaling through connective tissue: a mechanism for the therapeutic effect of acupuncture. FASEB J. 15, 2275–2282.
- Langevin, H.M., Churchill, D.L., Wu, J., Badger, G.J., Yandow, J.A., Fox, J.R., Krag, M.H., 2002. Evidence of connective tissue involvement in acupuncture. FASEB J. 16, 872–874.
- Lao, L.X., Zhang, R.X., Zhang, G., Wang, X., Berman, B.M., Ren, K., 2004. A parametric study of electroacupuncture on persistent hyperalgesia and Fos protein expression in rats. Brain Res. 1020, 18–29.
- Le Bars, D., Willer, J.-C., 2002. Pain modulation triggered by high-intensity stimulation: implication for acupuncture analgesia? Int. Congress Ser. 1238, 11–29. Ledeboer, A., Sloane, E.M., Milligan, E.D., Frank, M.G., Mahony, J.H., Maier, S.F., Watkins,
- Ledeboer, A., Sloane, E.M., Milligan, E.D., Frank, M.G., Mahony, J.H., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., 2005. Minocycline attenuates mechanical allodynia and proinflammatory cytokine expression in rat models of pain facilitation. Pain 115, 71–83.
- Lee, M.H.M., Ernst, M., 1989. Clinical and research observations on acupuncture analgesia and thermograph. In: Pomeranz, B., Stux, G. (Eds.), Scientific Bases of Acupuncture. Spring-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 157–176.
 Lee, G.S., Rho, S., Shin, M.K., Hong, M., Min, B.-I., Bae, H., 2002. The association of
- Lee, G.S., Rho, S., Shin, M.K., Hong, M., Min, B.-I., Bae, H., 2002. The association of cholecystokinin-A receptor expression with the responsiveness of electroacupuncture analgesic effects in rat. Neurosci. Lett. 325, 17–20.
- Lee, G.S., Han, J.-B., Shin, M.-K., Kim, S.-W., Min, B.-I., Bae, H., 2003. Enhancement of electroacupuncture-induced analgesic effect in cholecystokinin-A receptor deficient rats. Brain Res. Bull. 62, 161–164.
- Lee, H., Ernst, E., 2005. Acupuncture analgesia during surgery: a systematic review. Pain 114, 511–517.
- Lee, J.H., Beitz, A.J., 1993. The distribution of brain-stem and spinal cord nuclei associated with different frequencies of electroacupuncture analgesia. Pain 52, 11–28.
- Lei, L.-G., Zhang, Y.-Q., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2004. Pain-related aversion and Fos expression in the central nervous system in rats. NeuroReport 15, 67–71.
- Leung, A., Khadivi, B., Duann, J.R., Cho, Z.H., Yaksh, T., 2005. The effect of Ting point (tendinomuscular meridians) electroacupuncture on thermal pain: a model for studying the neuronal mechanism of acupuncture analgesia. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 11, 653–661.
- Levine, J.D., Gormley, J., Fields, H.L., 1976. Observations on the analgesic effects of needle acupuncture (acupuncture). Pain 2, 149–159.
- Lewith, G.T., Machin, D., 1983. On the evaluation of the clinical effects of acupuncture. Pain 16, 111–127.
- Li, A.-H., Hwang, H.M., Tan, P.P., Wu, T., Wang, H.L., 2001. Neurotensin excites periaqueductal gray neurons projecting to the rostral ventromedial medulla. J. Neurophysiol. 85, 1479–1488.
- Li, A.-H., Zhang, J.M., Xie, Y.-K., 2004. Human acupuncture points mapped in rats are associated with excitable muscle/skin–nerve complexes with enriched nerve endings. Brain Res. 1012, 154–159.
- Li, A., Wang, Y., Xin, J., Lao, L., Ren, K., Berman, B.M., Zhang, R.X., 2007. Electroacupuncture suppresses hyperalgesia and spinal Fos expression by activating the descending inhibitory system. Brain Res. 1186, 171–179.
- Li, C.Y., Zhu, L.X., Li, W.M., Ji, C.F., 1993. Relationship between presynaptic depolarization and effect of acupuncture, γ-aminobutyric acid, opioid peptide substance P. Acupunct. Res. 18, 178–182 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Li, W.C., Hung, D.L., Kalnin, A., Holodny, A., Komisaruk, B., 2000. Brain activation of acupuncture induced analgesia. Neuroimage 11, S701.
- Li, H., Ohishi, H., Kinoshita, A., Shigemoto, R., Nomura, S., Mizuno, N., 1997. Localization of metobotropic glutamate receptor, mGluR7, in axon terminals of presumed nociceptive, primary afferent fibers in the superficial layer of the spinal dorsal horn: an electron microscope study in the rat. Neurosci. Lett. 233, 153–156.
- Lin, W.Z., Xu, M.H., Dai, J.D., Chen, G.M., Shen, J.Y., 1979. Some observations on structures in certain acupuncture points and their afferent pathways subseving "needling sensations" in human. In: National Symposia of Acupuncture and Moxibution and Acupuncture Anesthesia, Beijing, pp. 417–418.

- Liu, B., Zhang, R.X., Wang, L., Ren, K., Qiao, J.T., Berman, B.M., Lao, L., 2005. Effects of pertussis toxin on electroacupuncture-produced anti-hyperalgesia in inflamed rats. Brain Res. 1044, 87–92.
- Liu, C.N., Zhao, F.Y., Zhu, L.X., 1994a. Role of adenosine in weak electroacupunctureinduced depression of nociceptive responses of the spinal dorsal horn neurons in rats. Acupunct. Res. 19, 55–59 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Liu, F.Y., Xing, G.G., Qu, X.X., Xu, I.S., Han, J.S., Wan, Y., 2007. Roles of 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) receptor subtypes in the inhibitory effects of 5-HT on Cfiber responses of spinal wide dynamic range neurons in rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 321, 1046–1053.
- Liu, G.-J., Wang, S., 1988. Effects of nucleus raphe magnus and locus coeroleus in descending modulation of habenula on pain threshold and acupuncture analgesia. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 9, 18–22.
- Liu, H., Wang, H., Sheng, M., Jan, L.Y., Jan, Y.N., Basbaum, A.I., 1994b. Evidence for presynaptic N-methyl-D-aspartate autoreceptors in the spinal cord dorsal horn. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 8383–8387.
- Liu, R.-H., Zhao, Z.-Q., 1992. Selective blockade by yohimbine of descending spinal inhibition from lateral reticular nucleus but not from locus coeruleus in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 142, 65–68.
- Liu, W.-C., Hung, D.-L., Kalnin, A., Holodny, A., Komisaruk, B., 2000. Brain activation of acupuncture induced analgesia. Neuroimage 11, S710.
- Liu, X., Zhu, B., Zhang, S.-X., 1986. Relationship between electroacupuncture analgesia and descending pain inhibitory mechanism of nucleus raphe magnus. Pain 24, 383–396.
- Liu, X., Jiang, M.-C., Huang, P.-B., Zou, T., 1990. Role of afferent C fibers in electroacupuncture of "zusnali" point in activating nucleus raphe magnus. Acta Physiol. Sin. 42, 523–533 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Liu, X., 1996. The modulation of cerebral cortex and subcortical nuclei on NRM and their role in acupuncture analgesia. Zhen Ci Yan Jiu 21, 4–11 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Lu, G.W., Liang, R.Z., Xie, J.Q., Wang, Y.S., He, G.R., 1979. Role of peripheral afferent by needling point Zusanli. Sci. Sin. 22, 680–692.
- Lundeberg, T., 1984. The pain suppressive effect of vibratory stimulation and transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) as compared to aspirin. Brain Res. 294, 201–209.
- Lundeberg, T., Stener-Victorin, E., 2002. Is there a physiological basis for the use of acupuncture in pain? Int. Congress Ser. 1238, 3–10. Ma, F., Xie, H., Dong, Z.-Q., Wan, Y.-Q., Wu, G.-C., 2004. Effects of electroacupuncture
- Ma, F., Xie, H., Dong, Z.-Q., Wan, Y.-Q., Wu, G.-C., 2004. Effects of electroacupuncture on orphanin FQ immunoreactivity and preproorphanin FQ mRNA in nucleus of raphe magnus in the neuropathic pain rats. Brain Res. Bull. 63, 509–513.
- Ma, J.-Y., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2002. The involvement of glia in the long-term plasticity of spinal dorsal horn of rat. NeuroReport 13, 1781–1784.
- Mark, V.H., Ervin, F.R., Yokovlev, P.I., 1963. Atereotixic thalamptomy. Arch. Neurol. 8, 528–538.
- MacPherson, H., Asghar, A., 2006. Acupuncture needle sensations associated with De Qi: a classification based on experts' ratings. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 12, 633–637.
- Mayer, D.J., 2000. Biological mechanisms of acupuncture. Prog. Brain Res. 122, 457– 477.
- Mayer, D.J., Price, D.D., Raffi, A., 1977. Antagonism of acupuncture analgesia in man by narcotic antagonist naloxone. Brain Res. 121, 368–372.
- Meyer, R.A., Ringkamp, M., Campbell, J.N., Raja, S.N., 2005. Peripheral mechanisms of cutaneous nociception. In: Wall, Melzack, (Eds.), Textbook of Pain. Elsevier, pp. 1–23.
- McLennan, H., Gilfillan, K., Heap, Y., 1977. Some pharmacological observations on the analgesia induced by acupuncture in rabbits. Pain 3, 229–238.
- Millan, M.J., 1999. The induction of pain: an integrative review. Prog. Neurobiol. 57, 1–164.
- Millan, M.J., 2002. Descending control of pain. Prog. Neurobiol. 66, 355-474.
- Mogil, J.S., 1999. The genetic mediation of individual differences in sensitivity to pain and its inhibition. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96, 7744–7751.
- Nagy, L.I., 1982. Capsaicin action on nervous system. TINS 5, 362-365.
- National Institutes of Health, 1997. Acupuncture. NIH Consensus Statement 15, 1–34. Obata, K., Noguchi, K., 2004. MAPK activation in nociceptive neurons and pain hypersensitivity. Life Sci. 74, 2643–2653.
- Okada, K., Oshima, M., Kawakita, K., 1996. Examination of the afferent fiber responsible for the suppression of the jaw-opening reflex in heat, cold, and the manual acupuncture stimulation in rats. Brain Res. 740, 201–207.
- Pan, B., Castro-Lopes, J.M., Coimbra, A., 1996. Activation of anterior lobe corticotrophs by electroacupuncture or noxious stimulation in the anaesthetized rat, as shown by co-localization of Fos protein with ACTH and β-endorphin and increased hormone release. Brain Res. Bull. 40, 175–182.
- Pan, B., Castro-Lopes, J.M., Coimbra, A., 1997. Chemical sensory deafferentiation abolishes hypothalamic pituitary activation induced by noxious stimulation or electroacupuncture but not only decreases that caused by immobilization stress. A c-fos Study. Neuroscience 78, 1059–1068.
- Park, H.J., Lee, H.S., Lee, H.J., Yoo, Y.-M., Lee, H.J., Kim, S.A., Leem, K., Kim, H.-C., Seo, J.-C., Kim, E.-H., Lim, S., Chung, J.-H., 2002. Decrease of the electroacupunctureinduced analgesic effects in nuclear factor-kappa B1 knockout mice. Neurosci. Lett. 319, 141–144.
- Pariente, J., White, P., Frackowiak, R.S., Lewith, G., 2005. Expectancy and belief modulate the neuronal substrates of pain treated by acupuncture. Neuroimage 25, 1161–1167.
- Peets, J., Pomeranz, B., 1978. CXBK mice deficient in opiate receptors show poor electroacupuncture analgesia. Nature 273, 675–676.

- Pert, C.B., Ervin, F.R., Snyder, S.H., 1976. Opiate receptors: autoradiographic localization in rat brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73, 3729–3733.
- Pomeranz, B., Chiu, D., 1976. Naloxone blockade of acupuncture analgesia: endorphin implicated. Life Sci. 19, 1757–1762.
- Pomeranz, B., Paley, D., 1979. Electroacupuncture hypolgesia is mediated by afferent nerve impulses: an electrophysiological study in mice. Exp. Neurol. 66, 398–402.
- Pomeranz, B., Cheng, R., 1979. Suppression of noxious responses in single neurons of cat spinal cord by electroacupuncture and its reversal by the opiate antagonist naloxone. Exp. Neurol. 64, 327–341.
- Pomeranz, B., Nguyen, P., 1987. Intrathecal diazepam suppresses nociceptive reflexes and potentiates electroacupuncture effects in pentobarbitol-anesthetized rats. Neurosci. Lett. 77, 316–320.
- Pomeranz, B., 1989. Acupuncture research related to pain, drug addiction and nerve regeneration. In: Pomeranz, B., Stux, G. (Eds.), Scientific Basis of Acupuncture. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Pomeranz, B., 2001. Scientific basis of acupuncture. In: Stux, G., Hammerschlag, R. (Eds.), Clinical acupuncture: Scientific Basis. Springer, Hedelberg, Germany, pp. 197–199.
- Przewlocki, R., Costa, T., Lang, J., Herz, A., 1987. Pertussis toxin abolishes the antinociception mediated by opioid receptors in rat spinal cord. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 144, 91–95.
- Price, D.D., Rafii, A., Watkins, L.R., Buckingham, B., 1984. A psychophysical analysis of acupuncture analgesia. Pain 19, 27–42.
- Price, D.D., 2000. Psychological and neural mechanisms of the affective dimension of pain. Science 288, 1769–1772.
- Ren, K., Hylden, J.L.K., Williams, G.M., Ruda, M.A., Dubner, R., 1992. The effects of a non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist, MK-801, on behavioral hyperalgesia and dorsal horn neuronal activity in rats with unilateral inflammation. Pain 50, 331–344.
- Research Group of Acupuncture Anesthesia. Peking Medical College, Peking, 1973. Effect of acupuncture on the pain threshold of human skin. Chin. Med. I. 3, 35.
- Research Group of Acupuncture Anesthesia. Peking Medical College, 1974. The role of some neurotransmitters of brain in finger-acupuncture analgesia. Sci. Sin. 17, 112–130.
- Reynolds, D.V., 1969. Surgery in the rat during electrical analgesia induced by focal brain stimulation. Science 194, 444–445.
- Richardson, H., Vincent, C.A., 1986. Acupuncture for the treatment of pain: a review of evaluative research. Pain 24, 15–40.
- Romita, V.V., Suk, A., Henry, J.L., 1997. Parametric study on electroacupuncture like stimulation in a rat model: effects of intensity, frequency, and duration of stimulation on evoked antinociception. Brain Res. Bull. 42, 289–296.
- Rudomin, P., 1999. Presynaptic selection of afferent inflow in the spinal cord. J. Physiol. 93, 329–347.
- Sa'ez, J.C., Retamal, M.A., Basilio, D., Bukauskas, F.F., Bennett, M.V.L., 2005. Connexin-based gap junction hemichannels: gating mechanisms. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1711, 215–224.
- Sandkuhler, J., Fu, Q.G., Helmchen, C., 1990. Spinal somatostatin superfusion in vivo affects activity of cat nociceptive dorsal horn neurons: comparison with spinal morphine. Neuroscience 34, 565–576.
- Schmidek, H.H., Fohanno, D., Ervin, F.R., Sweet, W.H., 1971. Pain threshold alterations by brain stimulation in the monkey. J. Neurosurg. 35, 715–722.
- Scholz, J., Woolf, C.J., 2007. The neruopathic pain triad: neurons, immune cells and glia. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 1361–1368.
- Sekido, R., Ishimaru, K., Sakita, M., 2003. Differences of electroacupuncture-induced analgesic effect in normal and inflammatory conditions in rats. Am. J. Chin. Med. 31, 955–965.
- Shao, T.H., Wu, J.P., Zhao, Z.Q., 1979. Primary afferent fibers underlying TENS-like acupuncture-induced analgesia. Kexue Tongbao 7, 329–440.
- Shen, E., Wu, W.Y., Du, H.J., Wei, J.Y., Zhu, D.X., 1973. Electromyographic activity produced locally by acupuncture manipulation. Chin. Med. J. 9, 532–535.
- Shen, E., Cai, T.D., Lan, Q., 1974. Effects of supraspinal structures on acupunctureinduced inhibition of visceral-somatic reflex. Chin. J. Med. 10, 628–633.
- Shen, E., Cai, T.D., Lan, Q., 1975. Supraspinal participation in the inhibitory effect of acupuncture on visceral-somatic reflex discharges. Chin. J. Med. 1, 431–440.
- Shen, E., Ma, W.H., Lan, Q., 1978. Involvement of descending inhibition in the effect of acupuncture on the splanchnically evoked potential in the orbital cortex of cat. Sci. Sin. 21, 677–685.
- Shen, S., Li, J., Wang, X.-M., Han, J.-S., 1996. Angiotensin II and anti-electroacupuncture analgesia in the spinal cord. Acta Physiol. Sin. 48, 543–550 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Sheng, L.L., Nishiyama, K., Honda, T., Sugiura, Ma., Yaginuma, H., Sugiura, Y., 2000. Suppressive effects of Neiting acupuncture on toothache: an experimental analysis on Fos expression evoked by tooth pulp stimulation in the trigeminal subnucleus pars caudalis and the periaqueductal gray of rats. Neurosci. Res. 38, 331–339.
- Shu, Y.-S., Zhao, Z.-Q., 1998. Orphanin FQ/nociceptin modulates non-NMDA receptor agonists induced currents in acutely isolated rat spinal dorsal horn neurons. Neuropeptides 32, 567–571.
- Sims, J., 1997. The mechanism of acupuncture analgesia: a review. Complement. Ther. Med. 5, 102–111.
- Siedentopf, C.M., Golaszewski, S.M., Mottaghy, F.M., Ruff, C.C., Felber, S., Schlager, A., 2002. Functional magnetic resonance imaging detects activation of the visual association cortex during laser acupuncture of the foot in humans. Neurosci. Lett. 327, 53–56.

- Sjolund, B., Trenius, L., Eriksson, M., 1977. Increased cerebro-spinal fluid leveled of endorphin after electriacupuncture. Acta Physiol. Scand. 100, 382–384.
- Song, X.-J., Zhao, Z.-Q., 1993a. Differential effects of NMDA and non-NMDA receptor antagonists on spinal cutaneous vs. muscular nociception in the cat. NeuroReport 4, 17–20.
- Song, X.-J., Zhao, Z.-Q., 1993b. NMDA and non-NMDA receptors mediating nociceptive and non-nociceptive transmission in spinal cord of cat. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 14, 481–485.
- Song, P., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2001. Involvement of glia in the development of morphine tolerance. Neurosci. Res. 39, 281–286.
- Song, P., Hu, J-Y., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2002. Spinal somatostatin SSTR2A receptors are preferentially up-regulated and involved in thermonociception but not mechanonociception. Exp. Neurol. 178, 280–287.
- Song, L., Zhu, Z.H., Duan, X.L., Liu, X.J., Fan, J., Ju, G., Wang, B.R., 2006. Effects of electroacupuncture at "Zusanli" (ST 36) on ERK1/2 phosphorylation in the dorsal horn of spinal cord of the rat. Zhongguo Zhen Jiu 26, 362–366 (in Chinese).
- Staud, R., Price, D.D., 2006. Mechanisms of acupuncture analgesia for clinical and experimental pain. Expert Rev. Neurother. 6, 661–667.
- Stein, C., 1991. Peripheral analgesic actions of opioids. J. Pain Symptom. Manage. 6, 119–124.
- Stein, C., Schäfer, M., Machelska, H., 2003. Attacking pain at its source: new perspectives on opioids. Nat. Med. 9, 1003–1008.
- Stener-Victorin, E., 2002. Acupuncture in reproductive medicine: overview and summary of recent studies. Int. Congress Ser. 1238, 149–156.
- Sun, R.Q., Wang, H.C., Wan, Y., Jing, Z., Luo, F., Han, J.-S., Wang, Y., 2004. Suppression of neuropathic pain by peripheral electrical stimulation in rats: A-opioid receptor and NMDA receptor implicated. Exp. Neurol. 187, 23–29.
- Sun, S., Chen, W.-L., Wang, P.-F., Zhao, Z.-Q., Zhang, Y.-Q., 2006. Disruption of glial function enhances electroacupuncture analgesia in arthritic rats. Exp. Neurol. 198, 294–302.
- Sun, S., Cao, H., Han, M., Li, T.T., Pan, H.L., Zhao, Z.Q., Zhang, Y.Q., 2007a. New evidence for the involvement of spinal fractalkine receptor in pain facilitation and spinal glial activation in rat model of monoarthritis. Pain 129, 64–75.
- Sun, S., Mao-Ying, Q.L., Cao, H., Li, T.T., Han, M., Pan, H.L., Wang, Y.Q., Zhao, Z.Q., Zhang, Y.Q., 2007b. Is functional state of spinal microglia involved in the antiallodynic and anti-hyperalgesic effects of electroacupuncture in rat model of monoarthritis? Neurobiol. Dis. 26, 558–568.
- Takagi, J., Yonehara, N., 1998. Serotonin receptor subtypes involved in modulation of electrical acupuncture. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 78, 511–514.
- Takakura, N., Ogawa, H., Iijima, S., Nishimura, K., Kanamaru, A., Sibuya, M., Homma, I., 1995. Effect of acupuncture at the Hoku point on vibration-induced finger flexion reflex in man: comparison between press needle technique, electroacupuncture, and in-situ technique. Am. J. Chin. Med. 23, 313–318.
- Takeshige, C., 1989. Mechanism of acupuncture analgesia based animal experiment. In: Pomeranz, B., Stus, G. (Eds.), Scientific Bases of Acupuncture. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 53–78.
- Takeshige, C., Tsuchiya, M., Guo, S.-Y., Sato, T., 1991. Dopaminergic transmission in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus to produce acupuncture analgesia in correlation with the pituitary gland. Brain Res. Bull. 26, 113–122.
- Takeshige, C., Sato, T., Mera, T., Hisamitsu, T., Fang, J.Q., 1992. Descending pain inhibitory system involved in acupuncture analgesia. Brain Res. Bull. 29, 617– 634.
- Takeshige, C., Oka, K., Mizuno, T., Hisamitsu, T., Luo, C.P., Kobori, M., Mera, H., Fang, T.Q., 1993. The acupuncture point and its connecting central pathway for producing acupuncture analgesia. Brain Res. Bull. 30, 53–67.
- Tang, Y.H., Pan, Y.-Z., Liu, G.-J., Wang, S., 1988. Gamma–aminobutyric acid and acupuncture analgesia. J. Norman Bethune Univ. Med. Sci. 14, 490–492 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Tang, N.M., Dong, H.W., Wang, X.M., Tsui, Z.C., Han, J.S., 1997. Cholecystokinin antisense RNA increases the analgesic effect induced by electroacupuncture or low dose morphine: conversion of low responder rats into high responders. Pain 71, 71–80.
- Tchekalarova, J., Pechlivanova, D., Kambourova, T., Matsoukas, J., Georgiev, V., 2003. The effects of sarmesin, an Angiotensin II analogue on seizure susceptibility, memory retention and nociception. Regul. Pept. 111, 191–197.
- Tershner, S.A., Helmstetter, F.J., 2000. Antinociception produced by mu opioid receptor activation in the amygdala is partly dependent on activation of mu opioid and neurotensin receptors in the ventral periaqueductal gray. Brain Res. 865, 17–26.
- Tian, J.N., Xu, W., Fang, Y., Mogil, J.S., Grisel, J.E., Grandy, D.K., Han, J.S., 1997a. Bidirectional modulatory effect of orphanin FQ on morphine-induced analgesia: antagonism in brain and potentiation in spinal cord of the rat. Br. J. Pharmacol. 120, 676–680.
- Tian, J.H., Xu, W., Zhang, W., Fang, Y., Grisel, J.E., Mogil, J.S., Grandy, D.K., Han, J.S., 1997b. Involvement of endogenous orphanin FQ in electroacupunctureinduced analgesia. NeuroReport 8, 497–500.
- Toda, K., Ichioka, M., 1978. Electroacupuncture: relations between forelimb afferent impulses and suppression of jaw-opening reflex in the rat. Exp. Neurol. 61, 465– 470.
- Toda, K., 2002. Afferent nerve characteristics during acupuncture stimulation. Int. Congress Ser. 1238, 49–61.
- Toma, N., Sgambato, V., Couture, R., 1997. Effect of angiotensin II on a spinal nociceptive reflex in the rat: receptor and mechanism of action. Life Sci. 61, 503–513.

- Tsou, K., Jang, C.S., 1964. Studies on the site of analgesic action of morphine by intracerebral microinjection. Sci. Sin. 13, 1099–1109.
- Uchida, Y., Nishigori, A., Takeda, D., Ohshiro, M., Ueda, Y., Ohshima, M., Kashiba, H., 2003. Electroacupuncture induces the expression of Fos in rat dorsal horn via capsaicin-insensitive afferents. Brain Res. 978, 136–140.
- Ulett, G.A., 1989. Studies supporting the concept of physiological acupuncture. In: Pomeranz, B., Stux, G. (Eds.), Scientific Bases of Acupuncture. Spring-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 177–198.
- Ulett, G.A., Han, S.P., Han, J.-S., 1998. Electroacupuncture: mechanisms and clinical application. Biol. Psychiatry 44, 129–138.
- Ungerstedet, U., 1971. Stereotaxic mapping of the monoamine pathways in the rat brain. Acta Physiol. Scad. 83 (Suppl. 367), 1–48.
- Vincent, C.A., Richardson, H., 1986. The evaluation of therapeutic acupuncture: concepts and methods. Pain 24, 1–13.
- Wan, Y., Wilson, S.G., Han, J.-S., Mogil, J.S., 2001. The effect of genotype on sensitivity to electroacupuncture analgesia. Pain 91, 5–13.
- Wang, H., Zhu, C.B., Cao, X.D., Wu, G.C., 1998. Effect of orphanin FQ on acupuncture analgesia and noxious stimulation in the periaqueductal grey. Acta Physiol. Sin. 50, 263–267 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Wang, H.-H., Zhu, Y.-H., Xu, S.-F., 1994. The potentiation effect of haloperidol on the binding of etorphine to brain membranes in acupuncture analgesia. Acta Physiol. Sin. 46, 313–319 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Wang, J., Chen, Z.-F., 1993. The action of medullary tail-flick related neurons in electroacupuncture analgesia. Acta Physiol. Sin. 45, 299–304 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Wang, K., Yao, S., Xian, Y., et al., 1985. A study on the receptive field of acupoints and the relationship between characteristics of needling sensation and groups of afferent fibers. Sci. Sin. (Ser. B) 28, 963–971.
- Wang, L.N., Zhang, Y., Dai, J., Yang, J.P., Gang, S.C., 2006. Electroacupuncture (EA) modulates the expression of NMDA receptors in primary sensory neurons in relation to hyperalgesia in rats. Brain Res. 1120, 46–53.
- Wang, Q., Mao, L.M., Han, J.S., 1990. The arcuate nucleus of hypothalamus mediates low but not high frequency electroacupuncture analgesia in rats. Brain Res. 513, 60–65.
- Wang, Q., Mao, L.M., Han, J.S., 1991. The role parabrachial nucleus in high frequency electroacupuncture analgesia in rats. Chin. J. Physiol. Sci. 7, 363–371.
- Wang, R.Y., Aghajanian, G.K., 1977. Physiological evidence for habenula as major link between forebrain and medbrain raphe. Science 197, 89.
- Wang, S., Jiang, Y., Xiao, J.S., Liu, M.Z., Liu, S.P., 1980. Spontaneous dischanges of habenular nucleus and its inhibitory action on nucleus raphe magnus. Ke Xue Tong Bao (Sci. Bull.) 25, 83–88.
- Wang, S., Liu, G.-J., Gao, Y.-L., Tang, Y.-H., 1987. Effects of exciting habenula by Lglutamic acid on the pain threshold and acupuncture analgesia. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 18, 200–203 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Wang, S.-M., Kain, Z.N., White, P., 2008. Acupuncture analgesia: I. The scientific basis. Anesth. Analg. 106, 602–610.
- Wang, Y., Zhang, Y., Wang, W., Cao, Y., Han, J.S., 2005. Effects of synchronous or asynchronous electroacupuncture stimulation with low versus high frequency on spinal opioid release and tail flick nociception. Exp. Neurol. 192, 156–162.
- Wang, Y.Q., Cao, X.D., Li, K.Y., Wu, G.C., 1997. Relationship between electroacupuncture analgesia and dopamine receptors in nucleus accumbens. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 18, 494–496.
- Wang, Y.Q., Cao, X.D., Wu, G.C., 1999. Role of dopamine receptors and the changes of the tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA in acupuncture analgesia in rats. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. 24, 81–88.
- Watkins, L.R., Kinscheck, I.B., Kaufman, E.F.S., Miller, J., Frenk, H., Mayer, D.J., 1985. Cholecystokinin antagonists selectively potentiate analgesia induced by endogenous opiates. Brain Res. 327, 181–190.
- Watkins, L.R., Hutchinson, M.R., Johnston, I.N., Maier, S.F., 2005. Glia: novel counterregulators of opioid analgesia. Trends Neurosci. 28, 661–669.
- Watkins, L.R., Hutchinson, M.R., Ledeboer, A., Wieseler-Frank, J., Milligan, E.D., Maier, S.F., 2007. Norman Cousins Lecture. Glia as the "bad guys": implications for improving clinical pain control and the clinical utility of opioids. Brain Behav. Immun. 21, 131–146.
- Wei, J.Y., Feng, C.C., Chu, T.H., 1973. Observation on activity of deep tissue receptors in cat hindlimb during acupuncture. Kexue Tongbao 18, 184–186.
- Wei, J.Y., Chang, S.C., Feng, C.C., 1976. Activation of unmyelinated muscle afferents by acupuncture or pressure exerted on muscle. Kexue Tongbao 21, 505–506 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Wei, J.Y., Chang, S.C., Feng, C.C., 1978. Activation of unmyelinated muscle afferents by acupuncture or pressure exerted on muscle. Acta Zool. Sin. 24, 21–28 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Wick, F., Wick, N., Wick, M.C., 2007. Morphological analysis of human acupuncture points through immunohistochemistry. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 86, 7–11.
- Wood, J.N., 1995. Regulation of NF-κB activity in rat dorsal root ganglia and PC12 cells by tumor necrosis factor and nerve growth factor. Neurosci. Lett. 192, 41–44.
- Wu, C-.P., Chao, C-.C., Zhao, Z.-Q., Wei, J.-Y., 1974. Inhibitory effect produced by stimulation of afferent nerves on responses of cat dorsolateral fasciculus fibers to nocuous stimulus. Sci. Sin. XVII, 688–697.
- Wu, C.P., Zhao, Z.-Q., Cheng, Y., Shao, D.H., Yang, Z.Q., 1978. Membrane potential changes of dorsal horn neurons elicited by electroacupuncture. Acupunct. Anaesthesis 1, 33–34.

- Wu, G., Jiang, J.W., Wu, G.C., Cao, X.D., 1990. Potentiation of electroacupuncture anagelsia by l-tetrahydropalmatine and its analogues. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 11, 116–119 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Wu, G.C., Zhu, J., Cao, X.D., 1995. Involvement of opioid peptides of the preoptic area during electroacupuncture analgesia. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. 20, 1–6.
- Wu, G.C., 2005. Clinical and experimental studies on acupuncture-drug balanced anesthesia and analgesia in China. In: Leung, Xue (Eds.). Ann. Tradit. Chen. Med., vol. 1, World Scientific Publishing Co Pte Ltd., Singapore, pp. 197–210.
- Wu, M.T., Hsieh, J.C., Xiong, J., Yang, C.F., Pan, H.B., Chen, Y.C., Tsai, G., Rosen, B.R., Kwong, K.K., 1999. Central nervous pathway for acupuncture stimulation: localization of processing with functional MR imaging of the brain—preliminary experience. Radiology 212, 133–141.
- Wu, M.T., Sheen, J.M., Chuang, K.H., Yang, P., Chin, S.-L., Tsai, C.-Y., Chen, C.-J., Liao, J.-R., Lai, P.-H., Chu, K.-A., Pan, H.-B., Yang, C.-F., 2002. Neuronal specificity of acupuncture response: a fMRI study with elecroacupuncture. Neuroimage 16, 1028–1037.
- Xie, C.W., Tang, J., Han, J.-S., 1981. Central norepinephrine in acupuncture analgesia. Differential effects in brain and spinal cord. In: Takagi, H., Simon, E.J. (Eds.), Advances in Endogenous and Exogenous Opioids. Kodansha, Tokyo, pp. 288–290.
- Xie, G.X., Han, J.S., Hollt, V., 1983. Electroacupuncture analgesia blocked by microinjection of anti-beta-endophin antiserum into periaquedutal grey of the rabbit. Int. J. Neurosci. 18, 287–292.
- Xie, X.-Y., Li, X.-X., Zhang, Z.-X., 1988. The change of mitochondrial protein bound Ca²⁺⁺ in some brain regions under the conditions of electroacupncture or morphine analgesia and the analgesic tolerance. Acta Physiol. Sin. 40, 533– 560 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Xu, G.-Y., Huang, L.-Y.M., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2000. Activation of silent mechanoreceptive cat C and Aδ sensory neurons and their SP expression following peripheral inflammation. J. Physiol. 528, 339–348.
- Xu, S.L., Wu, Z.Y., Sun, C.H., Yan, X.W., Du, T.L., Han, J.S., 1984. The needling sensation and needling reaction in two patients with incongenital insensitivity to pain. In: The Second National Symposium on Acupuncture and Moxibustion and Acupuncture Anesthesia. Beijing, China, (English abstract), pp. 548–549.
- Xu, S.F., Li, W.P., Sheng, M.P., Zhang, L.M., Zeng, D.Y., 1980. The camp level in caudate perfusate during acupuncture analgesia. Acta Physiol. Sin. 32, 238–244 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Xu, X.J., Hao, J.X., Wiesenfeld-Hallín, Z., 1996. Nociceptin or antinociceptin: potent spinal antinociceptive effect of orphanin FQ/nociceptin in the rat. NeuroReport 7, 2092–2094.
- Yaksh, T.L., Farb, D.H., Leeman, S.E., Jessell, T.M., 1979. Intrathecal capsaicin deplete substance P in the rat spinal cord and produces prolonged thermal analgesia. Science 206, 481–483.
- Yaksh, T.L., Jessell, T.M., Games, R., Mudge, A., Leeman, S.E., 1980. Intrathecal morphine inhibits substance P release from mammalian spinal cord in vivo. Nature 286, 155–157.
- Yan, B., Li, K., Xu, J.X., Wang, W., Li, K., Liu, H., Shan, B., Tang, X., 2005. Acupointspecific fMRI patterns in human brain. Neurosci. Lett. 383, 236–240.
- Yang, J., Song, C.-Y., Lin, B.-C., Zhu, H.-N., 1992. Effects of stimulation and cauterization of hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus on acupuncture analgesia. Acta Physiol. Sin. 44, 455–460 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Yang, J., Lin, B.C., 1992. Hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus plays a role in acupuncture analgesia through the central nervous system in the rat. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. 17, 209–220.
- Yang, J., Liu, W.Y., Song, C.Y., Lin, B.C., 2006a. Through central arginine vasopressin, not oxytocin and endogenous opiate peptides, glutamate sodium induces hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus enhancing acupuncture analgesia in the rat. Neurosci. Res. 54, 49–56.
- Yang, J., Liu, W.Y., Song, C.Y., Lin, B.C., 2006b. Only arginine vasopressin, not oxytocin and endogenous opiate peptides, in hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus play a role in acupuncture analgesia in the rat. Brain Res. Bull. 68, 453–458.
- Ye, W.L., Feng, X.C., Chao, D.F., Chang, J.W., Chang, C., 1979. Effect of electric stimulation of "Du-Channel" point on 5-HT and 5-HIAA contents in the caudate nucleus in the rabbit. Kexue Tongbao 24, 235–236 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Yih, C.C., Wu, S.Q., Yu, Y.G., Wang, F.S., Ji, X.Q., Zhao, D.D., Tsou, K., 1977. The effect on acupuncture analgesia by intraventricular injection of 5,6-dihydroxytryptaqmine. A functional and fluorescence histochemical study. Kexue Tongbao 22, 43–48.
- Yin, Q.Z., Mao, J.R., Guo, S.Y., 1988. Changes of reactions of neurons in dorsal raphe nucleus and locus coeruleus to electroacupuncture by hypothalamic arcuate nucleus stimulation. Funct. Neurol. 3, 263–273.
- Yonehara, N., Sawada, T., Matsurra, H., Inoki, R., 1992. Influence of electro-acupuncture on the release of substance P and the potential evoked by tooth pulp stimulation in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis of the rabbit. Neurosci. Lett. 142, 53–56.
- Yonehara, N., 2001. Influence of serotonin receptor antagonists on substance P and serotonin release evoked by tooth pulp stimulation with electro-acupuncture in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis of the rabbit. Neurosci. Res. 40, 45–51.
- Yu, W., Hao, J.X., Xu, X.-J., Saydoff, J., Haegerstrand, A., Hökfelt, T., Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., 1998. Long-term alleviation of allodynia-like behaviors by intrathecal implantation of bovine chromaffin cells in rats with spinal cord injury. Pain 74, 115–122.
- Yu, W.C., Huang, G.Y., Zhang, M.M., Zhang, Q., Wang, W., 2007. The role of connexin 43 gene in acupuncture analgesia. Zhongguo Zhen Jiu 27, 195–198 (in Chinese).

Zadina, J.E., Hackler, L., Ge, L.J., Kastin, A.J., 1997. A potent and selective endogenous agonist for the mu-opiate receptor. Nature 386, 499–502.

- Zhang, A.Z., Huang, D.K., Zeng, D.Y., Zhang, L.M., Wang, D.L., Zhu, G.G., 1981. The changes of endorphins in perfusate of certain nuclei in rabbits during acupuncture analgesia. Acta Physiol. Sin. 33, 8–18 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Zhang, D., Ding, G.H., Shen, X.Y., Yao, W., Zhang, Z.Y., Zhang, Y.Q., Lin, J.Y., 2007a. Influence of mast cell function on the analgesic effect of acupuncture of "Zusanli" (ST 36) in rats. Acupunct. Res. 31, 147–152 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Zhang, H., Cang, C.-L., Kawasaki, Y., Liang, L-.L., Zhang, Y.-Q., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2007b. Neurokinin-1 receptor enhances TRPV1 activity in primary sensory neurons via PKCε: a novel pathway for heat hyperalgesia. J. Neurosci. 27, 12067–12077.
- Zhang, R.X., Li, A., Liu, B., Wang, L., Ren, K., Qiao, J.T., Berman, B.M., Lao, L., 2007c. Electroacupuncture attenuates bone cancer pain and inhibits spinal interleukin-1 beta expression in a rat model. Anesth. Analg. 105, 1482–1488.
- Zhang, D.X., Gu, X.G., Shan, H.Y., 1978. Facilitation and depression exerted by the discrete loci of the head of the caudate nucleus in rabbits. Acta Physiol. Sin. 30, 21–28 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Zhang, D.X., Gu, X.G., Shan, H.Y., 1980. Modification of pain reaction by electrical stimulation of different loci of the head of caudate nucleus in rabbits. Acta Physiol. Sin. 32, 159–165 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Zhang, G.G., Yu, C., Lee, W., Lao, L., Ren, K., Berman, B.M., 2005a. Involvement of peripheral opioid mechanisms in electroacupuncture analgesia. EXPLORE: J. Sci. Healing 1, 365–371.
- Zhang, L., Zhang, Y-.Q., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2005b. Anterior cingulate cortex contributes to the descending facilitatory modulation of pain via dorsal reticular nucleus. Eur. J. Neurosci. 22, 1141–1148.
- Zhang, R.-X., Lao, L., Wang, L.B., Liu, B., Wan, X., Ren, K., Berman, B.M., 2004a. Involvement of opioid receptors in electroacupuncture-produced anti-hyperalgesia in rats with peripheral inflammation. Brain Res. 1020, 12–17.
- Zhang, R.X., Lao, L., Wang, X., Ren, K., Berman, B.B., 2004b. Electroacupuncture combined with indomethacin enhances antihyperalgesia in inflammatory rats. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 78, 793–797.
- Zhang, R.X., Liu, B., Wang, L., Ren, K., Qiao, J.T., Berman, B.M., Lao, L., 2005c. Spinal glial activation in a new rat model of bone cancer pain produced by prostate cancer cell inoculation of the tibia. Pain 118, 125–136.
- Zhang, R.X., Wang, L., Wang, X., Ren, K., Berman, B.M., Lao, L., 2005d. Electroacupuncture combined with MK-801 prolongs anti-hyperalgesia in rats with peripheral inflammation. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 81, 146–151.
- Zhang, W.T., Jin, Z., Cui, G.H., Zhang, K.L., Zhang, L., Zeng, Y.W., Luo, F., Chen, C., Han, J.S., 2003a. Relations between brain network activation and analgesic effect induced by low versus high frequency electrical acupoint stimulation in different subjects: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Brain Res. 982, 168–178.
- Zhang, W.T., Jin, Z., Huang, J., Zhang, L., Zeng, Y.W., Luo, F., Chen, C.A.N., Han, J.S., 2003b. Modulation of cold pain in human brain by electric acupoint stimulation: evidence from fMRI. NeuroReport 14, 1591–1596.
- Zhang, W.T., Jin, Z., Luo, F., Zhang, L., Zeng, Y.W., Han, J.S., 2004. Evidence from brain imaging with fMRI supporting functional specificity of acupoints in human. Neurosci. Lett. 254, 50–53.
- Zhang, Y.-Q., Ji, G.-C., Wu, G.-C., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2002. Excitatory amino acid receptor antagonists and electroacupuncture synergetically inhibit carrageenan-

induced behavioral hyperalgesia and spinal Fos expression in rats. Pain 99, 523–535.

- Zhang, Y.-Q., Ji, G.-C., Wu, G.-C., Zhao, Z.-Q., 2003. Kynurenic acid enhances electroacupuncture analgesia in normal and carrageenan-injected rats. Brain Res. 966, 300–307.
- Zhao, Z.-Q., Duggan, A.W., 1988. Idazoxan blocks the action of noradrenaline but not spinal inhibition from electrical stimulation of the locus coeruleus and nucleus Kolliker-Fuse of the cat. Neuroscience 25, 997–1005.
- Zheng, L., Li, X., Li, H., Zhao, B., Ruan, H., 1995. Effect of brain somatostatin on electroacupuncture analgesia of rat. Acupunct. Res. 20, 22–25 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Zhou, Z.F., Jin, W.Q., Han, J.S., 1984. Potentiation of electroacupuncture analgesia and morphine analgesia by intraventricular injection of thiophan and bestatin in the rabbit. Acta Physiol. Sin. 36, 175–182 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Zhou, P.H., Qian, P.D., Huang, D.K., Gu, H.Y., Wang, H.R., 1979. A study of the relationships between the points of the channels and peripheral nerves. In: National Symposia of Acupuncture-Moxibustion & Acupuncture Anesthesia, Beijing, p. 302.
- Zhou, P.H., Qian, P.D., Huang, D.K., Gu, H.Y., Wang, H.R. Relationships between meridian, acupoints and peripheral nerves. In: Xia, Y., Cao, X.-D, Wu, G.-C., Cheng, J.-S. (Eds.), Acupuncture Therapy on Neurological Diseases: A Neurobiological View. Springer, in press.
- Zhou, Y., Sun, Y.H., Shen, J.M., Han, J.S., 1993. Increased release of immunoreactive CCK-8 by electroacupuncture and enhancement of electroacupuncture analgesia by CCK-B antagonist in rat spinal cord. Neuropeptides 24, 139–144.
- Zhu, B., Xu, W.-D., Rong, P.J., Ben, H., Gan, X.-Y., 2004a. A C-fiber reflex inhibition induced by electroacupuncture with different intensities applied at homotopic and heterotopic acupoints in rats selectively destructive effects on myelinated and unmyelinated afferent fibers. Brain Res. 1011, 228–237.
- Zhu, C.-B., Li, X.-Y., Zhu, Y.-H., Wu, G.-C., Xu, S.-F., 1995. Binding sites of mu receptor increased when acupuncture analgesia was enhanced by droperidol: an autoradiographic study. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 16, 311–314.
- Zhu, C.-B., Xu, S.-F., Cao, X.-D., Wu, G.-C., Zhang, X.-L., Li, M.-Y., Cui, D.-F., Chi, C.-W., 1996. Antagonistic action of orphanin FQ on acupuncture analgesia in rat brain. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. 21, 199–205.
- Zhu, C.B., Xu, S.F., Wu, G.C., Cao, X.D., 1997a. Research on combination of acupuncture with drugs. World J. Acupunct. Moxib. 7, 54–59.
- Zhu, C.-B., Li, X.-Y., Zhu, Y.-H., Wu, G.-C., Xu, S.-F., 1997b. Alteration of monoamine contents in microdialysate following droperidol enhanced electroacupuncture. Acta Physiol. Sin. 49, 382–388 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Zhu, J.X., Tang, J.S., Jia, H., 2004b. Differential effects of opioid receptors in nucleus submedius and anterior pretectal nucleus in mediating electroacupuncture analgesia in the rat. Acta Physiol. Sin. 56, 697–702.
- Zhu, L.X., Li, C., Ji, C., Yu, Q., 1990a. Involvement of GABA in acupuncture-induced segmental inhibition. Eur. J. Pain 11, 114–118.
- Zhu, L.X., Li, C.Y., Yang, B., Ji, C.F., Li, W.M., 1990b. The effect of neonatal capsaicin on acupuncture analgesia. Acupunct. Res. 15, 285–291 (in Chinese, English abstract).
- Zhu, L.X., Zhao, F.Y., Cui, R.L., 1991. Effect of acupuncture on release of substance P. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 632, 488–489.
- Zhu, L.X., Ye, Y., Mo, X.R., Ji, Z.F., 2002. The important role of activation of GABAb receptors in acupuncture analgesia. Acupunct. Res. 27, 85–91 (in Chinese, English abstract).